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The Group currently controls Europe Energy S.p.A. in Italy.

Through Europe Energy S.p.A., the Group holds equity investments in four companies in the Balkans (more precisely, in Ro-
mania, Slovenia, Croatia and Serbia), all of which sell electricity and gas to end customers, and in one Italian company that 
deals with invoicing in the Utilities sector.

The Group also holds a joint equity investment in Le Trading AS, a company that works in the Balkans and which, in turn, 
controls a number of companies in the various countries in the area.

This financial report has been drawn up in accordance with international accounting standards, even though the parent com-
pany has prepared its financial statements by applying Italian accounting standards, as usual.

The following image shows the companies that make up the Europe Energy Holding Group as of 30/09/2019:
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It should be noted that, over the course of the year, the following events occurred:

- On 1 October 2018, the business branch of Edlo Energy S.r.l. relating to the sale of electricity and gas was acquired, 
mainly made up of end clients. In particular, this covers 16,362 sampling points, of which approximately 13,800 are situated 
in the north of Italy;

The following image provides a breakdown of the details of this business branch.
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- On 15 April 2019, the company signed a framework agreement with Green Network for the provision of network ser-
vices for one year, in relation to which it subsequently provided the counterparty with transport and dispatching services; 

During the reporting period, a number of transactions involving “bundles” of customers were completed, leading to the addition 
of approximately 17,000 customers, mainly aimed at shifting the geographic focus of the customer portfolio with a particular 
emphasis on north/north-east Italy;

Upon completion of the aforementioned transactions, as of the closing date of the financial year, the geographical distribution 
of our customers in Italy and Europe was as follows:

During the current financial year, trading activities have continued to mature, undergoing a gradual strategic change to become 
a perfect logistic platform, allowing us to trade electricity and gas anywhere in Europe. We thus intend to seize as many oppor-
tunities as possible that are presented to us by the European end-customer market.

To date, the Group operates on all major continental market platforms, whether they be official Power Exchange points or OTC 
brokerage platforms.

Our geographical coverage of the market, either directly or through subsidiaries and/or associated companies, now stretches 
from Great Britain to Turkey and from Spain to Ukraine. To date, Europe Energy Holding Group represents one of the most 
well-distributed and well-developed logistic platforms in Europe.

Countries where Europe Energy Holding Group is able to trade electricity:

Countries where Europe Energy Holding Group is able to trade gas:
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As at the closing date of the financial year in question, the Group’s retail portfolio was made up of 92,190 supply contracts, of 
which 59,934 for electricity, 32,132 for natural gas, 110 for mobile phone services and 14 for fibre optic cable. At the end of 
the previous year, these amounted to 41,464, broken down between electricity (27,572)and natural gas (13,892). This corre-
sponds to an overall increase of 116%, mainly in Italy, and is due to the organic and inorganic growth transactions completed.

Countries where Europe Energy is active in the retail market:

On 12 June 2019, Cerved Rating Agency S.p.A. confirmed the rating B 1.2 (investment) previously assigned on 15 March 
2018 to Europe Energy S.p.A.

Cerved Rating Agency S.p.A. is registered as a European rating agency (Credit Rating Agency, CRA), pursuant to Regulation 
(EC) no. 1060/2009 as amended, and is supervised by the ESMA. Cerved is also recognised as an External Credit Assessment 
Institution (ECAI) under EU Regulation No. 575/2013 of the European Parliament. 

The attribution of the rating creates significant benefits when it comes to reducing the amount of bank guarantees required by 
counterparties. 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE OF THE PARENT COMPANY

The share capital of Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. is divided into 1,908,730 shares, each with a nominal value of Euro 1. As of 
today, all shares are held by Matteo Ballarin.

No changes have occurred in the corporate management system adopted, which continues to be “traditional”. However, the 
governance system has gone from being a Sole Director to a Board of Directors. 

PARENT COMPANY BODIES

Sole Director

Matteo Ballarin

Sole Statutory Auditor

Stefano Breno

Independent Audit Firm Deloitte & Touche S.p.A.



11

KEY GROUP FIGURES 

Europe Energy Bilancio 2019

02

Euro/1000
Figures

at 
30.09.2019

% 
Figures

at 
30.09.2018

%

     

Revenues and income 983.693  454.522  

Cost of raw materials -951.669  -435.961  

Gross margin 32.024 100% 18.562 100%

Personnel costs -6.612 -21% -3.896 -21%

Other operating costs -17.860 -56% -10.440 -56%

EBITDA 7.552 24% 4.226 23%

Depreciation and amortisation of tangible and 
intangible assets

-2.872 -9% -161 -1%

EBIT 4.680 15% 4.065 22%

Income and expenses from equity investments 192 1% 502 3%

Financial management -873 -3% -585 -3%

Profit before taxes 4.001 12% 3.983 21%

Taxes -2.114 -7% -1.561 -8%

RESULT FOR THE YEAR 1.887 6% 2.421 13%

Profit attributable to minority interests 438 1% 338 2%

Result attributable to the group 2.324 7% 2.759 15%

The Group recorded a pre-tax profit of Euro 4,001 thousand (+0.4% compared to Euro 3,983 thousand at 30/09/2018) and 
EBITDA of Euro 7,552 thousand (+79% compared to Euro 4,226 thousand at 30/09/2018), with the net profit for the year 
attributable to the group amounting to Euro 2,324 thousand (-15.8% compared to Euro 2,759 thousand at 30/09/2018). Total 
revenues and income amounted to Euro 983,693 thousand (Euro 454,522 thousand at 30/09/2018). 
Supply points in Italy increased from 33,786 as of 30 September 2018 to 76,567 as of 30 September 2019, (+127%), with 
performance also being affected by the inorganic growth of the portfolio, as mentioned above. As at the end of the financial 
year, there were 48,528 supply points for electricity and 27,915 for natural gas. The first customers in the Fibre and Mobile 
segments must also be added to these figures, totalling 110 and 14 respectively at the end of the financial year.

In 2019, sales to end customers continued through the relative subsidiaries or investee companies in Romania, Croatia, Slove-
nia and Serbia. As of 30/09/2019, these companies count:
- Energia Gas & Power S.r.l. Romania: 6,011 active gas customers and 4,217 active electricity customers, for a total of 10,228 
supply points;
- Energia Gas & Power D.o.o. Slovenia: 632 active electricity customers;
- Energia Gas & Power D.o.o. Croatia: 363 active electricity customers;
- Energia Gas & Power D.o.o. Serbia: 4,406 active electricity customers.

The result for the year is shown below (along with the percentage weighting of individual items on the gross margin):

During the year, compared to the previous year, the value of production increased by 116%, which was forecast and reported 
in the Group’s business plan. 
This increase is mainly due to the increase in the number of end customers (generated by both organic growth and acquisitions) 
and to the increase in energy trading, as well as the effect of the aforementioned agreement to provide network services to third 
parties.

The following chart provides the breakdown by business segment of the increase in revenues compared with 2018 (figures in 
Euro million).
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Euro/1000 Figures as of 
30/09/2019

Figures as of 
30/09/2018 Change

Non-current bank payables 1.454 636 818

Other non-current financial liabilities 0 0 0

Long-term net debt 1.454 636 818

Cash and cash equivalents -5.206 -5.777 571

Other current financial assets -83 -1.202 1.120

Current financial receivables 0 0 0

Current bank payables 31.350 21.958 9.392

Other non-current financial liabilities 0 0 0

Short-term net debt/(cash) 26.062 14.979 11.083

NET DEBT 27.515 15.614 11.901

Euro/1000
Figures 

for the year ending 
30/09/19

Figures for the 
year ending 
30/09/2018

Change

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of 
the year 5.777 4.961 816

Cash flows from operating activities -4.010 3.303 -7.313

Cash flows from investment/divestment activities -7.290 -2.618 -4.672

Cash flows from financing activities 10.729 131 10.598

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 5.206 5.777 -571

We would like to highlight the effectiveness of our hedging policies and our implicit search for risk-free solutions, which have 
led to expected results being achieved in terms of EBITDA, despite the volatility that characterised raw material prices during 
the reporting period (please note that the price of electricity futures on European stock exchanges during the period in question 
fluctuated by up to 20%).

Margins nonetheless increased with regard to energy and natural gas brokerage (gross margin), thanks to an increasing focus on 
retail activities, supported by the great expertise of our trading floor (we believe this to be a particularly winning combination).

In fact, gross margin increased from Euro 18,562 thousand at 30/09/2018 to Euro 32,024 thousand at 30/09/2019.

This increase in gross margin is directly linked to the increase in the number of customers supplied, while the reduction as 
a percentage of turnover is down to the increase in the cost of raw materials, as mentioned above. EBITDA performance was 
excellent, increasing from Euro 4,226 thousand to Euro 7,552 thousand (+79%).

Operating profit (EBIT) for the year amounted to Euro 4,680 thousand (Euro 4,066 thousand at 30/09/2018). 
Net financial expenses amounted to Euro -873 thousand compared to Euro -585 thousand in the previous year. 
During the reporting period, the group continued to work and invest to affirm and consolidate its presence in European mar-
kets. Building relationships with leading players and accessing the main European platforms remain strategic milestones for 
development and are being pursued in line with expectations.
Net debt increased by 76% compared to the previous year (Euro 11,901 thousand), details of which, in terms of structure and 
changes, are provided in the following table:

The increase in the NFP compared with 30 September 2018 was expected and was caused by the increase in the end custo-
mer portfolio, i.e the acquisition of customers. In addition to the acquisition cost, this operation also intensified the normal 
dynamics experienced in our reference market, in terms of the negative cash flow that is typical when selling to end customers. 
It should be remembered that, in the energy market, it is necessary to pay the electricity stock exchange for the raw material 
during the week immediately after the purchase, whereas payments are received from customers according to the normal time 
frames for bills (around the end of the following month). Increasing the sale of energy to end customers therefore normally 
leads to an increase in debt, as lines of credits are used to compensate for this time lapse. The NFP/EBITDA ratio remained 
stable compared with the previous year.

During the reporting period, there was once again the need to use part of the liquidity position as a guarantee on lines of credit 
for the issue of sureties in favour of European network operators and electricity suppliers. 
Difficulties continue linked to the rating of the various Italian credit institutions (with just a few exceptions). In fact, their rating 
is often not sufficient to meet the requirements of institutions and/or large counterparties (such as ENI, Enel, Terna, EDF, EOn, 
RTE, etc.), especially not if they are foreign, who demand an investment-grade rating. From an economic point of view, the 
deterioration of conditions in Italy’s credit market over recent years has also led to increasing costs for lines of credit.

Security deposits paid by the company to guarantee electricity and natural gas purchases amounted to a total of Euro 2,938 
thousand (Euro 1,534 thousand at 30/09/2018).
Performance in terms of collecting receivables has also suffered as a result of the generally slower payment terms in the current 
economic context, despite the utmost attention being paid to compliance with remittance terms.
With regard to cash flows, the table below provides details of cash flows from the reporting period and from the previous year, 
which clearly show the financial dynamics described above:
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Euro/1000 
Figures 

for the year ending 
30/09/2019

Figures for the 
year ending 
30/09/2018

Change

Non-current net assets:    

- tangible and intangible assets 43.172 10.666 32.506

- equity investments 3.550 2.775 775

- other non-current net assets/(liabilities) 0 0 0

Total 46.721 13.441 33.281

Net working capital:  

- trade receivables 272.704 98.172 174.532

- other current net assets/(liabilities) 6.366 15.411 -9.045

- trade payables -280.800 -93.970 -186.830

Total -1.730 19.613 -21.343

Gross invested capital 44.991 33.054 11.938

Miscellaneous provisions:  

- employee benefits -662 -415 -246

- provisions for risks and charges and net defer-
red taxes 

898 488 410

Total 237 73 164

Net invested capital 45.228 33.127 12.101

Shareholders’ equity 17.713 17.512 201

NET DEBT 27.515 15.614 11.901

ECONOMIC FRAMEWORK 
OF REFERENCE
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The table below provides details of the capital structure, in terms of its composition and changes:

The balance sheet highlights the effects of the significant changes implemented to the business, whose full effects on the inco-
me statement shall be seen starting from the next financial year. In particular, the important investments made in non-current 
intangible assets refer to the organic and inorganic growth of the Customer List. The reduction in other net assets is mainly 
down to the fair value valuation of the open trading positions on the market as at the precise closing date of the financial year. 
In this regard, a different timing is to be noted compared with the previous year, in the sense that there was a prevalence of 
positions that were already closed and completed during the year compared with open positions valued at fair value. The chan-
ges in terms of trade receivables and trade payables are very closely linked to the increase in turnover. In fact, they refer to the 
approximately 1-2 months of turnover that did not have a financial expression at the end of the year. 
The Group’s equity covers 39% of the net capital invested (53% at 30/09/2018). Shareholders’ equity increased due to the 
combined effect of the positive result for the year, partially compensated for by the Euro 1.8 million relative to the accounting 
effects of adopting the new IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 standards, as better explained in the explanatory notes to the financial state-
ments. The increase in net debt is due to working capital dynamics, as better explained in the comments regarding cash flows.
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During the first nine months of 2019, the global economic slowdown continued, as reflected by GDP performance in the main 
industrialised and emerging countries. Compared with the past, the slowdown also affected industry, especially manufacturing: 
in fact, for the first time since 2009, a decline was recorded in global trade. Growth continues to be severely penalised by the 
uncertainty surrounding the tensions between the United States and China, which led to the two countries applying higher 
customs duties on each other’s imports, which were then reduced or postponed awaiting the next bilateral meetings. The main 
central banks continued to adopt monetary policy to support the economy: the ECB announced a package of measures aimed at 
combating the continuing weakness of the European economy, whereas the FED reduced interest rates to tackle the slowdown 
of the country’s growth rate. With reference to the United States, the slowdown in real GDP growth reflected the stagnation of 
non-residential investments and the decline of residential investments, as well as the drop in exports. The US manufacturing 
rate was affected by American companies’ fear of a recession due to the high level of economic instability, leading to the worst 
downturn of the last ten years in September. These declines were partially compensated for by the increase in spending for 
private consumption and federal government spending. China has already expanded its fiscal policy, providing assistance for 
families and companies, and has eliminated a number of restrictions on foreign investments, encouraging a depreciation of the 
exchange rate. The depreciation of the yuan also weakened the currencies of the other main emerging markets, contributing to 
the slowdown in world trade. Elements of instability also continue in Europe, such as the risk of a Hard Brexit and the ongoing 
transformation process of the German automotive industry.
The Italian economy is also experiencing a slowdown, together with the other main European countries. In this regard, the new 
government announced a strategy involving a policy coordinated with European partners which, together with the reduction 
in international rates, contributed to reducing the public debt burden. During the first nine months of 2019, a 6.0% depre-
ciation of the euro against the US dollar was recorded compared with the same period in 2018, with the average euro/US 
dollar exchange rate amounting to 1.12 in a context of the global economy slowing down. Considering monthly variations, the 
exchange rate recorded declining performance from the beginning of the year, with an exception in June, when expectations 
regarding a cut in interest rates by the FED led to a weakening of the US dollar. The appreciation of the dollar was supported 
by the greater resilience of the US economy in the face of global geo-political tensions and by the weak macroeconomic perfor-
mance of the euro area. As a result, during its last meeting in September, the ECB announced a new set of stimulus measures, 
including a cut to the deposit rate and the return to quantitative easing starting from November 2019, for an undefined amount 
of time: the headquarters in Frankfurt declared that rates would remain at their current level or would be reduced based on how 
inflation develops, in order to encourage inflation to remain close to the objective of 2%

With regard to the oil markets, the average stock market price of crude oil during the first nine months of 2019 amounted 
to USD 64.7/bbl, down 11.0% compared with the average price recorded in the same period in 2018. During the first four 
months of the year, the stock market price of Brent oil recorded an increasing trend, supported by the renewed commitment 
of the OPEC and partner countries to reduce production. Prices then fell, to USD 62.0/bbl in the third quarter, down 18.4% 
compared with the same period the year before and 9.2% compared with the second quarter of 2019.  The average crude oil 
price in euro amounted to € 57.6/bbl, down 5.4% compared with the first nine months of 2018. The main factors putting 
pressure on prices during the year included the aforementioned trade tensions, excess stockpiles and robust production on the 
US market, in a context that showed signs of the global economy slowing down, leading to a drop in demand for oil products. 
These dynamics further strengthened the high level of volatility that normally characterises crude oil prices.  In September, 
prices increased, supported by attacks on certain Saudi infrastructure, making a large part of production capacity unavailable.
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ELECTRICITY

With reference to prices as of 30 September 2019, the average value of the time-weighted average (“TWA”) for the “single 
national price” (in Italian: “PUN”) in 2019 amounted to Euro 53.8/MWh, down by almost 9% compared with the figure for the 
same period of the previous year (Euro 58.9/MWh). The average for the third quarter of 2019 amounted to Euro 51.0/MWh, 
substantially in line with the previous quarter and down 25.9% compared with the same period in 2018. This reduction was 
mainly down to the decline in gas prices; furthermore, compared with the previous year, weather conditions during the summer 
were less extreme and there were less critical issues on the European market, leading to a limited change to prices during the 
last quarter.
Analysing the monthly evolution of the PUN, the most significant variances were recorded in January and September (+38.1% 
and -32.9% respectively compared with the same months of the previous year): in January, there was a significant reduction in 
imports from neighbouring countries due to limitations on interconnection capacity at the northern border. Starting from May, 
year-on-year prices began to fall at an increasing rate, in line with the decline in gas prices and in the context of a virtually 
stable level of demand compared with the previous year. 
 The monthly trend compared with the previous year is shown in the graph below:

During the first nine months of 2019, area prices also recorded a decline, down 9% across all areas and with a more moderate 
decrease in Sicily, equal to 4.6%. F1, F2 and F3 hourly periods recorded a decline across all time bands, in line with the PUN 
trend (-8.9%, -8.2% and -9.0% compared with the first nine months of 2018). This downward trend was also to be seen with 
regard to prices in foreign countries: in particular, during the first nine months of 2019, France recorded a drop of 14.8% 
compared with the same period of the previous year, with prices amounting to Euro 39.2/MWh, while Germany recorded a 
reduction of 8.9%, with prices recording an average of Euro 38.0/MWh
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GAS

With reference to the first nine months of the year, demand for natural gas amounted to 53.9 billion cubic metres, recording 
a significant increase of 2.5 billion cubic metres compared with 2018 (+4.9%). This was mainly due to the contribution of 
thermoelectric power plants (+15.2%), substantially linked to economic factors, such as the decrease in the availability of 
water resources recorded during the first months of the year. During the first nine months of 2019, the spot gas price in Italy 
recorded a decline of 30.1% compared with the same period in 2018, reaching €c 17.5/scm. Prices recorded a downward 
trend throughout the year, with an average value of €c 12.9/scm during the third quarter, down 53.5% compared with the 
same period during the previous year.  The Virtual Trading Point-TTF spread was extremely volatile during the period, recording 
an average of €c 2.8/scm during the first nine months of the year, up significantly (€c +1.3/scm) compared with the first nine 
months of 2018. During the third quarter, the price differential amounted to €c 2.0/scm, down by €c 1.8/scm compared with 
the previous quarter.
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Reference is made to the most significant reforms introduced during the reporting period regarding the regulation of the indu-
stry in which the Group operates.

Prescriptive proceedings initiated by resolutions 342/2016/E/Eel and 459/2016/E/Eel, and subsequent amendments, passed 
by the Authority
Following the results of the investigation, as part of this procedure, the final prescriptive measures were filed, with which the 
Authority verified non-diligent strategies - as part of UC and UP planning - allegedly used by operators to make significant 
margins; by adopting these measures, the operators in question have been ordered (if they haven’t already done so) to refund 
Terna the amounts deriving from the application of imbalance fees from which they allegedly unduly benefited.
As at the date of drawing up the financial statements, the company had lodged an appeal with the Council of State against the 
judgement passed by the Regional Administrative Court regarding UC imbalances at the first hearing - in relation to UCs - and 
had the court appoint an expert witness (so-called “inspector”, in the person of the Head of the Economics Department at 
the Bicocca University) to assess the real impact of these imbalances on the uplift, to the detriment of the end customers - in 
accordance with ARERA’s interpretation - the Italian Regulatory Authority for Energy, Networks and Environment - (which, 
until now, ARERA has used as the basis for its requests for refunds to traders); the inspector’s report contributed well to the 
company’s position and we are currently awaiting the next hearing, scheduled for the second half of March, before the Council 
of State.

Approval of the proposal for balancing terms and conditions, submitted pursuant to EU Regulation no. 2017/2195 (“Balancing 
Regulation”) and compliance checks for the relative proposals to amend the network transmission, dispatching, development 
and safety code - resolution no. 535/2018/R/EEL of 23 October 2018 
With the publication of resolution no. 535/2018/R/EEL, ARERA approved the proposal for terms and conditions relating to 
balancing services, prepared by TERNA in accordance with EU Regulation no. 2017/2195 (the so-called  “Balancing Regu-
lation”), and checked the relative amendments to the Network Code with a positive result, with the exception of those con-
cerning coordination between the intraday market (in Italian: “MI”) and the Dispatching Services Market (in Italian: “MSD”). 
More specifically, the proposals to amend the Network Code refer to two main issues: i) coordination between the dispatching 
services market and the Replacement Reserve exchange Platform (hereinafter, “RR Platform”), necessary to integrate the Eu-
ropean balancing market segment into the national dispatching segment; ii) coordination between the intraday market and the 
dispatching services market, in view of the future introduction of continuous intraday trading hour h-1, as required by European 
Regulation no. 2015/1222 (the so-called CACM Regulation). 

Provisions to strengthen safeguards to the benefit of end customers in the event of amounts being invoiced referring to consu-
mption dating back more than two years - resolution no. 569/2018/r/com of 13 November 2018.
From 1 January 2019, also for gas bills, should the seller or distributor be responsible for significant delays with invoicing, the 
customer may object and only pay the invoiced amounts relating to consumption within the last two years. In order to increase 
transparency regarding the amounts that may be specified and to make it easier for customers to exercise their rights, sellers 
shall be obliged to issue a separate invoice containing only the amounts relating to consumption dating back more than two ye-
ars. Alternatively, these amounts must be clearly and comprehensibly indicated in the invoice, which also contains the amounts 
relating to consumption within the last two years. In any case, sellers are required to inform customers of the possibility to 
object to the amounts that may be specified and to provide a format that makes it easy for them to provide notification of their 
intention not to pay.

Measures resulting from the provisions of Italian Law no. 205/2017 with reference to electronic invoicing, regarding “bill 2.0”, 
the standard network code for electricity transport services and the standard network code for the distribution of natural gas - 
resolution no. 712/2018/r/com of 27 December 2018   
This measure introduces the initial provisions regarding concise bills for end customers and documents recording natural gas 
distribution and electricity transportation services, necessary to substantially coordinate the Authority’s current regulations 
with the new legislation on electronic invoicing referred to by Italy’s 2018 “Budget Law”. The aim of this is to ensure that the 
purposes outlined by sector regulations are achieved, in accordance with new legislative obligations.

ELECTRONIC INVOICING HAS COME INTO FORCE: legal obligations introduced by Art. 1, paragraphs 909-916, of Italian Law 
no. 205 of 27 December 2017 (the so-called 2018 Budget Law)
The law in question states that, from 1 January 2019, invoices for the supply of goods and for the provision of services, between 

persons resident in Italy or established in Italy for VAT purposes, must only be exchanged through the “Electronic Data Inter-
change” system (in Italian: “SDI”), in accordance with the procedures indicated therein, with the exception of certain exemp-
tions and electronic invoicing already in place with the PA. Electronic invoices issued to end consumers are made available to 
the latter by the Italian Revenue Agency’s telematic services.

Resolution no. 103/2019/r/eel of 19 March 2019 - additional provisions regarding the breakdown of the main network into 
areas, upon completion of the review process pursuant to (EU) regulation no. 2015/1222 (“CACM”) resolution no. 109/2019/r/
eel of 26 March 2019
The process to review the areas belonging to the Terna network will be completed as of 1 January 2021, moving Umbria from 
the Centre-North area to the Centre-South and introducing a new Calabria area with the elimination of the limited production 
hub of Rossano and the subsequent zeroing of virtual areas. This was decided by the Energy Authority through resolution no. 
103/2019/R/eel, which specifies that, considering that the creation of the Calabria area shall increase the number of physical 
areas from six to seven, with subsequent impacts on how the ‘price coupling of regions’ cross-border mechanism works, this 
shall be subject to the competent power exchange operators approving a request to increase the PUN order feature of the Price 
Coupling Algorithm, necessary to handle the growing number of purchase offers involved with the creation of the new area. This 
resolution grants a mandate to the GME (Italian power exchange) to take the necessary steps in order to get the authorisation in 
good time. The decision to make this change as of 2021 is down to the time frames required for the aforementioned operation 
and is also due to the fact that moving Umbria before this would have had a significant impact on the services provided to 
safeguard the areas of Tuscany, Marche and Umbria, to be provided throughout 2020.

Resolution no. 246/2019/r/com of 18 June 2019: integration and amendments to resolution no. 712/2018/r/com passed by 
the Authority, regarding electronic invoicing, as a result of the provisions of Italian Law no. 205/2017
This resolution introduced integrations and amendments to resolution no. 712/2018/R/com regarding electronic invoicing, in 
order to make it easier for the various players involved to implement the measures. This resolution follows discussions held with 
operators as part of a technical round table organised by the Authority. The regulator decided to introduce an additional way 
to create a unique connection between the concise bill and the relative details (in the cases stated by the regulation and by 
the contract) and the corresponding electronic invoice, stating that sellers may alternatively generate a unique alpha-numeric 
code, created using a SHA-256 hash algorithm application (or similar hashing encryption function that guarantees a lack of 
collisions) - in accordance with the procedure governed by the Technical Specifications attached to the Italian Revenue Agency 
resolution dated 30/04/2018 - for the digital file of the concise bill and any relative details, with the obligation to then provide 
the unique alpha-numeric code generated in a txt file, not containing anything else, which is then attached to the invoice file 
sent to the Electronic Data Interchange; distributors must do the same thing, regardless of the size of the invoice file, with 
reference to the digital file for the documents recording electricity transport and natural gas distribution services. The concise 
bill must report the number that uniquely identifies the valid electronic invoice for tax purposes sent to the Electronic Data 
Interchange, accompanying said number with a note that suitably explains the fact that said number identifies the invoice file 
sent to the Electronic Data Interchange which is uniquely linked to the concise bill in question. A copy of the concise bill, any 
relative details and the documents recording electricity transport and natural gas distribution services must be registered and 
stored for at least 10 years, in such a way that they can be available and reused for any necessary checks and controls, as well 
as to guarantee substantial consistency with the digital archiving obligations applicable to electronic invoices, to which the 
regulatory documents are linked.

Resolution no. 300/2019/r/eel of 09 July 2019: urgent amendments to resolution no. 50/2018/r/eel passed by the Authority, 
regarding unpaid general charges, as integrated and amended on 26 November 2019 by resolution no. 495/2019/R/eel
This resolution introduced urgent amendments to resolution no. 50/2018/R/eel regarding unpaid general charges, excluding 
from the calculation of the unpaid receivables any interest charges invoiced to transport customers and revaluing the reinte-
gration amount recognised by the “Energy and environmental services fund” (in Italian: “Csea”) to distribution companies at 
the legal interest rate.
This resolution explains that the Authority had received reports of cases whereby distributors had invoiced interest charges 
only after termination of the transport contract and near to the annual expiry date for submitting the request to the Csea to 
be admitted to the recognition mechanism; ARERA stated that such a practice “clearly implies a waiver of the right to apply 
interest charges, in line with their widely recognised typical function, i.e. to act as a tool to increase the chances of the debt 
being paid”. 
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Resolution no. 310/2019/r/eel of 16 July 2019: instructions for Terna to implement amendments to the proposed methodo-
logy to harmonise the main characteristics of imbalance settlement, pursuant to EU regulation no. 2017/2195 (“balancing 
regulation”)
In coordination with the other European regulators involved, ARERA used this resolution to ask Terna to amend the proposed 
methodology to harmonise the main characteristics of imbalance settlement, pursuant to EU regulation no. 2017/2195 (“Ba-
lancing Regulation”).
The request for amendments refers to specific and detailed changes for each article of the proposal, including: changes to the 
text to guarantee more clarity, if required; changes to the definitions to align them with those provided in other Regulations 
or methodologies, as well as the correction or elimination of certain legal references, deemed to be incorrect or out of place; 
changes to the article relating to the calculation of volumes that contribute to the imbalance, to make parties’ responsibility for 
imbalances clear and unambiguous, avoiding responsibility gaps or overlapping responsibility; clarification, in the article rela-
ting to elements to be used to calculate the imbalance price, regarding compulsory and optional elements; removal of Art. 5(4) 
regarding the use of volume estimates, potentially to be dealt with at national level; amendment to Art. 5(7) on the additional 
elements of the imbalance price, so that these form part of the components used to calculate the price and are not items to be 
added or subtracted from it; the specific addition, as a requirement, that the imbalance price calculated with the price com-
ponents described must respect the restrictions imposed by articles 55(4-6) of the Balancing Regulation; more details on any 
opportunities for further harmonisation of the approach to respect the restrictions imposed by articles 55(4-6) and justification 
of the relative choice; inclusion of the proposal for the general definition of the value of avoided activation, as required by Art. 
52(2). The proposal doesn’t have to include a specific calculation methodology, as these details can be developed at national 
level; clarification regarding the conditions for application of the dual pricing mechanism, listed in Art. 8 of the proposal, as 
they are not deemed to be sufficiently justified and directly applicable; supplementing Art. 8 with a list of information that the 
TSOs must provide to the competent regulator, to justify the request to apply the dual pricing mechanism.

Resolution no. 396/2019/r/eel of 26 September 2019: initiation of proceedings to implement the measures provided for by 
Italian Law no.124 of 4 August 2017 (Annual Law on Competition) regarding the setting up of a protection service for domestic 
customers and small companies in the electricity sector
This resolution initiated proceedings to implement the measures provided for by Italian Law no. 124 of 4 August 2017 (Annual 
Law on Competition), regarding the setting up of a protection service for domestic customers and small companies should they 
not opt for an electricity provider on the free market by the deadline for the enhanced protection service.

LEGISLATIVE CHANGES AFTER 30 SEPTEMBER 2019 
Resolution no. 538/2018/r/gas of 17 December 2019: approval of proposals to update the network code of Snam Rete Gas 
S.p.A. and provisions to launch the gas settlement reform
This resolution approved the proposals to update the network code of Snam Rete Gas, applying the gas settlement reform, 
by implementing provisions to launch said reform as of 1 January 2020 (the date when the amendments to the Snam code 
will come into effect). This resolution provides transitional rules on the application of variance fees regarding the transport 
capacity necessary to provide withdrawals at the ‘city gates’, valid until 31 May 2020. It also states that, by the end of May 
2020, transport companies must allow users of the balancing service to increase the capacity they have available at the ‘city 
gates’, valid from 1 October 2019, taking this into account when applying the variance fees. Snam Rete Gas may supplement 
the methods it uses to calculate the Wkr coefficient, also on the basis of up-to-date data made available by the integrated IT 
system manager and subject to prior notice being provided to the Authority, for the purpose of also reducing daily fluctuations 
of the ‘IO delta’ share to be supplied compared with the average value. Lastly, the validity of the numerical criteria for the 
incentives referred to by Art. 9 of the “TIB” (“full text on balancing”), defined with resolution no. 480/2018/R/gas, shall be 
extended until 19 February 2020.

Italian Decree Law no. 162 of 30 December 2019, as converted into Italian Law no. 8 of 28 February 2020 regarding the end 
of price protection in favour of small-scale end customers for electricity and gas
Paragraph 3 of Art. 12 introduced amendments to Italian Law no. 124/2017 (Annual Law on Competition), stating: i) the 
extension, from 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2022, of the deadline for the termination of price protection for small-scale end 
customers in the gas market; ii) extension of the deadline for said protection in the electricity market for small-sized compa-
nies, from 1 July 2020 to 1 January 2021, and, for micro-enterprises and domestic customers, from 1 July 2020 to 1 January 
2022. Among other things, this Decree demands that ARERA adopts measures to ensure a service of gradual safeguards for 
end customers without an electricity supplier, as well as specific measures to prevent unjustified price increases and alterations 

to supply terms and conditions. Furthermore, it makes provisions regarding the procedures and criteria for end customers to 
enter the free market in a well-informed way, as well as providing the list of operators authorised to sell electricity to end custo-
mers, with particular reference to the criteria for operators to be able to remain on said list or for them to be excluded from it. 

Italian Law no. 160 of 27 December 2019 (2020 Budget Law): provisions affecting the energy sector
Paragraphs 291, 292 and 293 of Art. 1 of Italy’s 2020 Budget Law introduce the following significant changes for the energy 
sector, valid from 1 January 2020: i) sellers of electricity and/or natural gas (falling into the category of “utilities operators”) are 
obliged to provide end customers - via registered post with acknowledgement of receipt - with clear and detailed notifications 
of any missing bill payments, informing them that the supply shall be cut off unless the arrears are paid, with due notice of no 
less than forty days; ii) sellers of electricity and/or natural gas - in the event of invoices being issued in relation to which the 
competent authority finds that the seller has acted unlawfully through non-compliance with procedures to duly record consu-
mption, settle outstanding balances or issue invoices, or has charged unjustified expenses and costs for consumption, services 
or goods that are not due, or if such breaches are duly documented through a dedicated declaration, submitted independently 
also via telematic means - must pay the end customer a penalty equal to 10 per cent of the undue amount contested by the 
customer, in addition to the reimbursement of any amounts paid and, in any case, an amount of no less than Euro 100; iii) 
the seller of electricity and/or gas shall reimburse the amounts unduly received or, in any case, unjustifiably charged to the 
end customer in accordance with the previous point ii), as well as paying the relative penalty, by either discounting the amount 
from subsequent invoices, or by making a dedicated payment by a deadline that shall be no later than fifteen days from the 
verification, or from the positive response to the declaration independently sent by the end customer - at the discretion of the 
end customer in question.
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The risk assessment and management process is closely tied to the strategic planning process, with the aim of associating 
the Group’s overall risk profile to future profitability as per the business plan/budget. In this regard, it should be noted that, 
currently, the main risk area is represented by the sector in which the Group operates, which has taken on a strongly financial 
connotation. In this regard, as stated above, the Group is pursuing a strategy to diversify its business, with reference to both 
the types of markets and the geographical reference areas.

Market risk

The energy markets in which the Group operates recorded a slight recovery during the first quarter of 2019, despite the fact 
that competitive pressure remains high.

In the Italian electricity market, there was a slight increase in demand during the first few months of 2019, mainly satisfied by 
increased hydroelectric production, which benefited from more favourable weather conditions than in 2018, and by a recovery 
in imports from France, after the decrease recorded last year due to the unavailability of some nuclear power plants.

In the natural gas market, during the first half of 2019, there was a slight decrease in overall demand compared with the same 
period last year: the lower consumption linked in particular to the thermoelectric sector was largely offset by an increase in the 
residential and industrial sectors.

Clauses to renegotiate the price of long-term gas supply contracts and the constant monitoring of changes in the energy scena-
rio and market conditions are important mitigating factors for the Group.

Despite the above, the growing price volatility of energy commodities (electricity, oil, coal and other derivatives) over the last 
few years has led to an increased risk of fluctuations in economic results for companies in the industry. 

This risk area is found mainly in the procurement stage, because the Group’s purchases are subject to seasonal fluctuations in 
energy and natural gas prices, which it tends to limit and reduce.

In this context, besides regularly monitoring price trends in the industry, especially of electricity and natural gas, the Group 
hedges the cost through the acquisition of derivative financial instruments.

The potential risks to which the Group may be exposed are also tied to non-bilateral purchases and/or sales (i.e. commitment 
to purchase energy that is not sold, or vice versa), or to a misalignment between the prices to purchase electricity and natural 
gas and the prices to sell them. The first risk is avoided through sound management of the contract portfolio, while in the event 
of the second risk arising, instruments are used to manage the risk of prices, referred to as “CFD” (contracts for difference). 
These contracts allow for effects on sales margins to be predefined, regardless of changes in market conditions. 

Regulatory risk

A potential source of risk is the constant evolution of the legislative and regulatory framework, which affects the market, fee 
plans, the levels of service quality required, and technical and operational obligations. In fact, this risk area is tied to the cur-
rent technical complexity of the industry, which requires constant updates to resolutions passed by the different competent 
authorities in the field, both nationally and internationally.

In this regard, Europe Energy Holding Group has further staffed its legal & compliance department, which now counts three 
in-house lawyers with specific experience in regulatory matters, in order to ensure ongoing monitoring of the regulations gover-
ning the industry and to promptly implement any changes, working to minimise any resulting economic impact. 

For the same reason, Europe Energy S.p.A. became a member of the EFET (European Federation of European Traders) as well 
as being a member of AIGET (Italian Association of Energy Wholesalers and Traders). Furthermore, it should be highlighted 
that the head of the Group’s legal department, Dott.ssa Loredana Pasqualini, is the Vice-President of General Affairs for AIGET.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate fluctuations, especially in terms of financial charges associated with overall debt.

The Group regularly assesses its exposure to the risk of interest rate changes. Its main objective is to reduce the fluctuation in 
the volatility of financial charges. This objective is achieved through an appropriate combination of fixed-rate and variable-rate 
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debt, if need be, also by using appropriate hedging tools.

Credit risk

With reference to the risk of potential losses deriving from non-fulfilment of the obligations taken on by the various counter-
parties with which the Group operates, the latter implemented procedures and tools some time ago to evaluate and select 
counterparties on the basis of their credit standing and to continuously monitor exposure vis-à-vis its various counterparties.

However, exposure to credit risk is mainly linked to the growing commercial activity of selling electricity and natural gas on the 
retail market.

In order to control this risk, the company has adopted a specific procedure to manage credit risk, and in 2015 it took out a 
specific insurance policy for trade receivables vis-à-vis business customers, which was renewed at the end of February 2019.

Other insurance policies offered by other important industry players are currently being assessed.

This operation, besides lowering the risk on current customers, provides more risk assessment tools that drive pre-sales activi-
ties in order to minimise counterparty risk.

Liquidity risk

The purpose of liquidity risk management is to limit the risk that the Group’s available financial resources are not sufficient to 
cover its financial and commercial obligations in line with the predetermined terms and deadlines.

With reference to cash flows, it should be noted that, apart from the price fluctuations that are typical of our line of business, 
no particular financial risks are faced, due to the fact that: 

1. the Group made a choice ahead of time regarding wholesale activities, specifying that energy would only be sold to 
wholesale clients, represented mainly by municipal companies or leading operators, that could guarantee timely payments, or 
to counterparties that issue bank sureties;

2. for the sale of electricity and natural gas to end customers, ad hoc pre-sales procedures have been implemented in 
order to avoid the risk of end customers not paying their bills and credit insurance has been taken out for business customers. 
Moreover, all procedures for disconnecting and promptly cutting off supply are duly followed, in line with specific industry 
regulations.

The strategic goal is to ensure that, at all times, the Group is able to cope with its financial obligations for the next twelve 
months.

BUSINESS OUTLOOK

Europe Energy Bilancio 2019
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The business is developing with an increasing focus on sales to end customers, whether domestic or business (with particular 
attention being paid to holders of VAT numbers, small businesses and SMEs). Our WithU brand was presented on 28 May 
2019, which groups together our electricity, gas, mobile phone and internet connection services. The brand was officially lau-
nched on the Italian market during autumn 2019 and the relative services began to be sold.

In December 2019, a national TV advertising campaign was launched for the first time, on the Mediaset channels, which was 
then repeated in March 2020.

Initial results have been positive and the market is increasingly supporting the concept of a single supplier for a “kit” of ser-
vices.

During 2020, the group’s invoicing system and accounting software will be fully migrated to the new platform acquired in 
2019. Furthermore, 2020 will see us develop the group’s new CRM platform.

Foreign companies shall continue to develop in order to begin supplying end customers and shall embark on a path of sustai-
nable and solid growth in terms of new contracts.

We will attempt to expand the network of countries where we are present on the retail market, through specific start-ups or by 
acquiring companies.

We expect to see a volatile market, especially due to the international scenarios which are sure to have repercussions on the 
price of raw materials. There will therefore be an even greater focus on hedging policies.

The Group will also continue its short-term activity, i.e. supply with deliveries ranging from single hour (daily and intraday 
markets) up to one month at the most, or OTC transactions with leading counterparties. In fact, contracts are only entered into 
with institutional partners, demanding appropriate guarantees in order to avoid credit risk.

In the coming years, short-term markets, with particular reference to intraday and daily markets, will be the main investment 
focus in terms of know-how and growth for the group as a whole. As of today, these markets are among the most profitable, 
especially in relation to their relative level of risk, having very limited underlying elements in view of their short time span of 
reference. On the other hand, this line of business requires careful monitoring and considerable investments in terms of know-
ledge and understanding of cross-border energy flows and the different dynamics of national production. To successfully tackle 
these challenges, the Group already runs its business seven days a week.

All of the aforementioned activities are included in the group’s business plan, approved by the BoD and subject to continuous 
updates in order to seize the opportunities for growth and development presented by the market.

MISCELLANEOUS 
INFORMATION

Europe Energy Bilancio 2019

08
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For consolidation purposes, the following were completed:

- preparation of the sub-consolidated financial statements of the Energia Gas & Power Romania subgroup as of 30.09.19;

- preparation of the sub-consolidated financial statements of the Europe Energy S.p.A. subgroup as of 30.09.19;

- elimination of the “equity investments” of the sub-consolidated financial statements from the financial statements of the 
parent company Europe Holding S.r.l., with the relative consolidation differences being recorded.

Investments

As of 30.09.2019, investments in financial assets amounted to Euro 83 thousand (Euro 1,202 thousand as of 30/09/2018). 
This reduction was due to the collection of the loans granted to the associated company LE Trading AS.

Legal situation

The Group’s legal situation is the same as in the previous year.

Research and development

Research and development activities are carried out on an ongoing basis, aimed at identifying new projects in the energy indu-
stry and, in particular, in the field of energy from alternative sources. There is also a strong focus on the study of energy market 
volatility and correlations at transnational level. 

Finally, daily research and development are carried out on the ICT tools developed in-house, in order to improve their effecti-
veness.

However, during the reporting period closed on 30.09.2019, it was decided not to capitalise expenses for R&D, as provided 
for by the IAS 38 accounting standard.

Treasury shares or shares held by subsidiaries, associated companies, parent companies and companies controlled by the latter 
companies

As of 30.09.2019, the Group did not hold treasury shares nor shares or stakes in parent companies and nor did it hold or 
negotiate such shares during the financial year closed on 30.09.2018. It also did not order the purchase of any such shares 
during the reporting period or during the following year.

There is therefore nothing to report for the purposes of Art. 2428, paragraph 2, points 3 and 4, of the Italian Civil Code.

Relations with associated companies and related parties

All transactions with related parties can be classed as ordinary business operations and are governed by standard market con-
ditions, i.e. under the same conditions that would apply between two independent parties. 

Activities and revenues vs. associated companies Balance at
30/09/2019

Balance at 
30/09/2018

Financial activities 74.445 1.194.145

Credits towards associated companies 14.416.255 11.536.232

Commercial Revenues 23.150.619 24.506.404

Active interests 190.948 501.281

Balance at
30/09/2019

Balance at 
30/09/2018

Europe Energy S.p.A. (Milan, San Martino B.A. (VR), Padua, 
Marcon, Brescia and Bergamo)

88 69

Energy Gas & Power S.r.l. (Romania) 32 33

Energy Gas & Power D.o.o. (Slovenia) 4 4

Gnucom S.r.l. 2 0

Total 126 106

Liabilities and costs vs. associated companies Balance at
30/09/2019

Balance at 
30/09/2018

Commercial costs 0 3.706.539

Information about the Environment

With regard to environmental protection, we believe that the Group’s energy trading with wholesalers respects applicable energy 
laws and we therefore do not expect any liabilities in this regard and/or damage to the environment.

Information on the Workforce

As of 30 September 2019, the Group’s workforce was made up of 126 resources (106 at 30.09.18), broken down as follows:

With reference to the reporting period, the following should be noted:

- there were no injuries or deaths in the workplace for which the Group has been conclusively proven to be responsible;

- there were no charges for occupational illness involving employees or former employees for which the Group has been con-
clusively proven to be responsible;

- there were no cases of mobbing for which the Group has been definitively declared responsible.

Milan, 13 May 2020

Sole Director

(Matteo Ballarin)
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Notes 30/09/2019 30/09/2018

ASSETS

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Tangible assets 1 1.939.294 1.407.358

Land 430.000 581.988

Property 1.265.155 581.585

Plant and equipment 112.619 167.437

Vehicles 17.083 0

Other property, plant and equipment 114.437 76.348

Intangible assets 2 41.232.354 9.258.753

Patents, trademarks and other rights 519.552 21.800

Customer list 31.672.590 196.741

Goodwill 9.040.212 9.040.212

Financial assets 3 3.549.705 2.774.551

Equity investments 3.549.705 2.774.551

Deferred tax assets 4 1.022.305 556.225

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 47.743.658 13.996.887

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 5 1.282.067 2.108.301

Financial assets 6 82.683 1.202.383

Current tax assets 7 4.061.667 2.087.877

Trade receivables 8 272.704.146 98.172.051

Cash and cash equivalents 9 5.206.117 5.777.158

Other assets 10 9.859.772 17.241.807

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 293.196.452 126.589.577

TOTAL ASSETS 340.940.110 140.586.464

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

segue >

(VALORI IN UNITÀ DI EURO)
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Notes 30/09/2019 30/09/2018

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 1.908.730 1.908.730

Other reserves 14.176.532 13.256.526

Profits (losses) carried forward 443 -425

Profit (loss) for the year 2.324.366 2.759.492

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 11 18.410.071 17.924.323

Shareholders’ equity and profit (loss) for the year attributable 
to minority interests

-697.056 -411.834

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 17.713.015 17.512.488

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current financial liabilities 12 1.453.666 635.628

Provisions for risks and charges 13 93.521 35.966

Staff severance pay and other employee benefits 14 661.527 415.246

Deferred tax liabilities 15 30.419 32.019

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.239.133 1.118.859

CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.239.133 1.118.859

Current financial liabilities 16 31.350.349 21.958.224

Current tax liabilities 17 5.711.475 2.276.527

Trade payables 18 280.800.286 93.970.272

Other liabilities 19 3.125.852 3.750.093

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 320.987.962 121.955.116

TOTAL LIABILITIES 323.227.095 123.073.975

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 340.940.110 140.586.464

>

Notes 30/09/2019 30/09/2018

 

REVENUES AND INCOME 983.693.161 454.522.182

Revenues from sales and services 20 982.682.172 453.433.563

Other revenues and income 21 1.010.989 1.088.619

OPERATING COSTS 976.141.494 450.296.090

Cost of raw materials, consumables, goods 22 951.669.177 435.960.661

Other operating costs 23 17.859.891 10.439.850

Personnel costs 24 6.612.426 3.895.579

EBITDA 7.551.667 4.226.092

Amortisation, depreciation, write-downs and other 
provisions  

25 2.872.061 160.500

EBIT 4.679.606 4.065.592

Financial income 26 2.650 49.227

Financial expenses 27 -873.007 -634.007

NET FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES -870.357 -584.780

Income (Expenses) from equity investments 28 0 0

Financial income (expenses) from group companies 29 191.539 501.872

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX 4.000.788 3.982.684

Tax expenses / (income) 30 2.114.147 1.561.111

NET RESULT 1.886.641 2.421.573

PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO HOLDERS OF CAPITAL 
OF THE PARENT COMPANY AND MINORITY INTERESTS 1.886.641 2.421.573

OF WHICH (PROFIT) LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THIRD 
PARTIES 437.725 337.919

PROFIT (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE GROUP 2.324.366 2.759.492

INCOME STATEMENT
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 30/09/2019 30/09/2018

NET RESULT 2.324.366 2.759.492

Other components of comprehensive income:

A) CHANGES TO THE CASH FLOW HEDGE RESERVE 0 0

- Profit (loss) from valuations during the period 0 0

- Taxes (+/-) 0 0

B) ACTUARIAL GAINS (LOSSES) -34.428 -1.701

- Actuarial gains (losses) -34.428 -1.701

TOTAL OTHER COMPONENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME NET OF TAXES -34.428 -1.701

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE NET INCOME 2.289.939 2.757.791

Milan, 13 May 2020

Sole Director
(Matteo Ballarin)

CONSOLIDATED CASH 
FLOW STATEMENT AS OF 
30.09.2019

Europe Energy Bilancio 2019

10
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30/09/2019 30/09/2018

A. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - OPENING BALANCE

Cash and cash equivalents 5.777.158 4.960.797

TOTAL A 5.777.158 4.960.797

B. CASH FLOW DURING THE YEAR

Result for the year 2.324.366 2.759.492

Effect of change to the scope of consolidation (323.434) (723.646)

Depreciation 2.918.567 160.500

Net change in staff severance indemnity provision 246.281 34.150

Net change in credit impairment provision 407.062 829.014

Change in inventories 826.234 (496.969)

Change in trade receivables (175.699.157) (69.149.546)

Change in tax receivables (1.973.790) 3.068.271

Change in deferred tax assets (466.080) 3.217

Change in other financial assets 0 51.106

Change in other assets 6.341.630 6.809.540

Change in deferred tax liabilities (1.600) (61.433)

Net change in provisions for risks and charges 57.554 15.073

Change in trade payables 158.521.264 57.668.393

Change in tax payables 3.434.948 1.622.264

Change in other liabilities (624.241) 713.316

TOTAL B (4.010.396) 3.302.742

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT AS OF 30.09.2019
(Amounts in units of Euro)

segue >

30/09/2017 30/09/2016

C. CASH FLOW FROM INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES

(Investments) in non-current intangible assets (6.379.795) (134.729)

(Investments) - Disinvestments in non-current tangible assets (735.559) (473.072)

(Investments) to purchase equity holdings (175.154) (2.010.000)

TOTAL C (7.290.508) (2.617.801)

D. CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Financial receivables due from associated companies 519.700 8.544.749

Non-current financial liabilities 818.038 (4.151)

Current financial liabilities 9.392.125 (8.409.178)

TOTAL D 10.729.125 131.420

E. CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR (B+C+D) (571.041) 816.361

Cash and cash equivalents 5.206.117 5.777.158

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - CLOSING BALANCE 5.206.117 5.777.158

>

Milan, 13 May 2020
Sole Director
(Matteo Ballarin)
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Share capital Legal reserve Share pre-
mium reserve FTA reserve Extraordinary 

reserve
Consolidation 

reserves

Profits (los-
ses) carried 

forward

Result for the 
year Total

As at the closing date of the financial 
year - 30.09.2017 1.908.730 195.178 418.502 -1.488 5.042.789 5.332.310 -426 2.581.047 15.476.642

Allocation of the result for the year 
ending 30.09.2017

0 0 0 0 -22.871 0 0 22.871 0

Reclassified profit of consolidating 
company as at 30.09.2017

0 0 0 0 0 2.603.918 0 -2.603.918 0

IAS effect 0 0 0 1.178 0 0 0 0 1.178

Effect of change to the scope of consoli-
dation

0 0 0 0 0 -313.643 0 0 -313.643

Effect of Euro conversion 0 0 0 0 0 654 0 0 654

Result for the current financial year 
(30.09.2018)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2.759.492 2.759.492

As at the closing date of the financial 
year - 30.09.2018

1.908.730 195.178 418.502 -310 5.019.918 7.623.239 -426 2.759.492 17.924.323

Allocation of the result for the year 
ending 30.09.2018

0 525 0 0 9.976 0 0 -10.501 0

Reclassified profit of consolidating 
company as at 30.09.2018

0 0 0 0 0 2.748.991 0 -2.748.991 0

IAS effect 0 0 0 310 0 0 869 0 1.179

Effect of change to the scope of consoli-
dation

0 0 0 0 0 -4.963 0 0 -4.963

Effect of IFRS 9 + IFRS 15 entries 0 0 0 0 0 -1.834.833 0 0 -1.834.833

Result for the current financial year 
(30.09.2019)

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2.324.366 2.324.366

As at the closing date of the financial 
year - 30.09.2019

1.908.730 195.703 418.502 0 5.029.894 8.532.434 443 2.324.366 18.410.072

Milan, 13 May 2020

Sole Director
(Matteo Ballarin) 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AS OF 30.09.2019
(Amounts in units of Euro)
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Form and content of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements that we hereby submit for your approval, which comprise the Statement of Financial 
Position, the Income Statement, the Comprehensive Income Statement, the Cash Flow Statement, the Explanatory Notes and 
the Management Report, and which report an after-tax profit attributable to the group of Euro 2,324,366  (of which Euro - 
437,725 attributable to minority interests) and group shareholders’ equity as of 30 September 2019 of Euro 18,410,071 (of 
which Euro -697,056 attributable to minority interests) have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), based on the text published in the 
Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU).

Corporate Structure

The share capital of the Parent Company amounts to Euro 1,908,730 divided into 1,908,730 shares of nominal value of Euro 
1.

The Group holds equity investments in a number of start-up companies in the Balkans area (ENERGIA G&P SRL Bucharest 
(Romania), ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Zagreb (Croatia) and ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Ljubljana (Slovenia) and ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. 
Belgrade (Serbia)), as well as in LE Trading AS, which also operates in the Balkans and, in turn, has business branches in other 
countries in this area.
The associated company LE Trading AS completes the Group, which also operates in the Balkans and, in turn, has business 
branches in other countries in this area.

During the reporting period, following the acquisition of the business branch from Edlo Energy S.p.A., a 100% stake in the 
capital of Gnucom S.r.l. was also acquired (through a trust company), a company that provides billing services to the gas & 
power sector.

As highlighted in the management report, a deed was signed before the Notary Avv. Vera Tagliaferri in Crema (index no. 
10135/6939) on 27/09/2018, which took effect on 1/10/2018, to acquire the business branch of Edlo Energy S.p.A. relating 
to the sale of electricity and gas, made up of end customers spread throughout different areas of Italy. In particular, this covers 
18,958 sampling points, of which 13,800 are situated in the north of Italy.
The sale price for the transaction was equal to Euro 1,391 thousand.

EXPLANATORY NOTES TO 
THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
AS OF 30/09/2019

Europe Energy Bilancio 2019

12

Figures for the acquisition of the business branch from Edlo Energy S.p.A.
  

Customer list 4.250.000

Other assets 261.272

Liabilities (3.120.020)

Consideration paid (1.391.252)

Scope of Consolidation
The companies included in these consolidated financial statements are listed below:

Parent company:
- EUROPE ENERGY HOLDING S.R.L. - registered office in Milan, Via Fratelli Gabba, 6. 
This company’s objects are:
a) to trade and distribute electricity, gas (including the relative importing) and any other energy carrier, in any form, 
including electronically on the platforms of the Italian and foreign stock exchanges, as well as to trade green certificates, white 
certificates and CO2 emissions certificates (so-called “emissions trading”).
b) to buy and sell derivative financial instruments relating to any energy carrier and/or product, in any case not as a core 
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business activity, not for placement purposes and not vis-à-vis the public, excluding savings collection reserved to banks and 
financial institutions;
c) to provide post-meter/system and technological support services, also to optimise and rationalise energy consumption, 
including certification and the issue of “white certificates” and, in any case, all activities normally carried out by an ESCO 
(energy saving company);
d) to provide consulting services and technical assistance regarding:
1. energy-related issues and tariff strategies, self-production, co-generation, energy recovery and energy saving;
2. the study of national and international market performance of energy products;
3. management and planning of the business and production, relating to the aforementioned activities;
e) building, managing and maintaining electricity power plants and supplying electricity to public and private entities.
In the context of these activities, the company may also:
- design, build, manage and maintain electricity power plants;
- carry out feasibility studies;
- obtain all necessary authorisations;
- complete projects and install plants in the field of energy saving and power generation in all its forms, with a particular 
focus on environmental protection and the use of renewable energy sources; organise staff training and refresher courses;
- offer services for the accounting and distribution of energy costs and the relative tax collection service, both on its 
own behalf and on behalf of third parties.
f) to purchase, sell and manage real estate assets, including both direct and indirect construction and renovation of its 
own property or property belonging to third parties, for civil, industrial, agricultural and commercial use, typically aimed at their 
sale, exchange and management, also through various kinds of contracts for use granted to third parties;
g) to purchase, sell and manage land and farming companies, and to lease them;
h) to carry out all commercial, industrial, financial, real estate and securities transactions deemed necessary or useful to 
achieve the company’s objects, including issuing guarantees (real and personal guarantees), also for the benefit of third parties; 
to acquire equity holdings, also shareholdings, and to acquire stakes in other companies or enterprises, as long as this is not a 
core business activity and, in any case, is carried out in compliance with and within the limits of applicable legislation, with the 
exclusion of any transaction regarding the provision of credit, the collection of savings from the public and the sale of shares, 
interests and stakes in any type of company or enterprise to third parties;
i) to directly take all action necessary to obtain any kind of incentives, subsidies and assistance available from regional 
authorities, the Italian Government and European Union to support production and the company’s lines of business, with the 
right to request and obtain administrative grants, sign any type of contract or agreement with any entity, public administration 
or private operator, mutual companies and agencies.

Scope of consolidation:
The companies in the scope of consolidation are held both directly by Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. and indirectly through the 
subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A..
The aim of the whole group is to develop trading activities regarding electricity, gas and different energy carriers on the platfor-
ms of the Italian and foreign stock exchanges, as well as to sell green and white certificates, in addition to retail sales and the 
dispatching of electricity and gas to end users.

Company
Date of 

incorporation / 
acquisition

% of control as 
at 30/09/2018 Main line of business 

ENERGIA G&P SRL Romania (*) 24/08/2017 63%
Sale of electricity and natu-

ral gas

Energia Vanzare S.r.l.(****) 8/01/2018 100% Energy and gas sales agency

ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Slovenia (*) 18/12/2017 73%
Sale of electricity and natu-

ral gas

ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Croatia (**) 19/12/2017 50%
Sale of electricity and natural 

gas

Gnucom S.r.l. (*) 1/11/2019 100% Billing services

ENERGIA G&P D.O.O. Serbia (**) 28/09/2018 35%
Sale of electricity and natural 

gas

LE Trading AS 22/03/2017 30% Electricity Trading

(*) Equity investment held through the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A.
(**) Equity investments that are not included in the scope of consolidation.
(***) Equity investment held indirectly through the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A, not consolidated;
(****) Equity investment held indirectly by the subsidiary Energia G&P S.r.l..

For the purpose of preparing these consolidated financial statements, two “sub-consolidated” financial statements were pre-
liminarily drawn up for the “Europe Energy S.p.A.” and “Energia Gas & Power S.r.l. (Romania)” subgroups, completing the 
following consolidation activities: 
- aggregation of the financial statements of the subsidiaries in Energia G&P S.r.l. and then in Europe Energy S.p.A.;
- elimination of the equity investments held by the company in the aforementioned subsidiaries;
- elimination of reciprocal balance sheet and income statement balances;
- The amounts of shareholders’ equity and profit or loss for the year attributable to minority interests are indicated 
separately in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of comprehensive income, respectively.
The assets and liabilities of the subsidiary Energia G&P S.r.l. and its consolidated companies, being in a currency other than 
euro, have been converted as described in the ‘principles of consolidation’ section.

As a second step, these “sub-consolidated” financial statements were then aggregated with the financial statements of the 
parent company, carrying out the following adjustments:
- cancellation of reciprocal income statement and balance sheet relations between the parent company and the com-
panies falling within the scope of “sub-consolidation”;
- elimination of the Europe Energy S.p.A. “sub-consolidated” equity investment.

The effects of these adjustments are described in detail in the reconciliation statement for shareholders’ equity and the result 
for the year, as recorded by the Parent Company and in the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
With regard to the criteria applied to take into consideration the financial statements of the subsidiaries and the accounts of 
the Parent Company, please refer to the information provided above and to the ‘principles of consolidation’ section.

Uncertainty Analysis 
Regarding accounting uncertainties, it should be noted that they do not exist in these Financial Statements as of 30 September 
2019, since they are not entered in said statements, they are not subject to significant valuations and / or fluctuations in their 
value.

These explanatory notes are broken down into the following parts:
- part A: Principles of consolidation
- part B: Structure and content of the financial statements



4948

Europe Energy Note Illustrative

- part C: Assessment criteria
- part D: Accounting standards, amendments and newly published interpretations
- part E: Other information relevant to the preparation of the financial statements
- part F: Information on the Statement of Financial Position
- part G: Information on the Income Statement
- part H: Risk management and other information

Part A
Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries begin to be included in the scope of consolidation from the date when the Group effectively acquires control over 
them.
The financial statements used for consolidation purposes are those of companies or consolidated companies in the sector 
approved by the competent bodies of the respective companies, suitably modified, where necessary, to bring them in line with 
the Group’s accounting standards.
Subsidiaries are consolidated on a line-by-line basis; the assets and liabilities, income and expenses of consolidated companies 
are fully included in the consolidated financial statements.  The book value of the equity investments is eliminated against the 
corresponding percentage of shareholders’ equity of the investee companies, attributing their current value to the individual 
asset and liability items and to contingent liabilities, as at the date when control is acquired.
The amounts of shareholders’ equity and profit or loss for the year attributable to minority interests are indicated separately in 
the balance sheet, income statement and statement of comprehensive income, respectively.
Reciprocal balance sheet and income statement items, originating from relations between fully consolidated companies, are 
eliminated.  
Payables and receivables, expenses and income relating to transactions completed between companies included in the scope 
of consolidation are eliminated. Profits resulting from transactions between these companies and relating to values that are still 
included in the shareholders’ equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent company, are eliminated.
Investee companies cease to be consolidated from the date when control is transferred to third parties.

Subsidiaries
These are companies controlled by the Group, as defined by IFRS 10 (Consolidated Financial Statements). This control is ba-
sed on all three of the following elements being present at the same time: (a) power over the investee; (b) exposure, or rights, 
to variable returns from involvement with the investee; (c) the ability to use the power over the investee to affect the amount of 
said variable returns. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the 
date when the Group takes over control until said control ceases to exist.  The amounts of shareholders’ equity and profit or 
loss attributable to minority interests are indicated separately in the balance sheet and in the income statement, respectively.

Associated companies
These are companies over which the Group has a significant influence, but does not hold the control or joint control, with regard 
to financial and operating policies, as defined by IAS 28 (Investments in Associates).

Consolidation of foreign companies and criteria for the conversion of items in a foreign currency
The assets and liabilities of foreign consolidated companies expressed in a currency other than euro are converted using the 
exchange rate on the reporting date of the financial statements; income and expenses, on the other hand, are converted using 
the average exchange rate for the year. Any resulting conversion differences are included under shareholders’ equity and more 
specifically under the item “Other reserves”, until the equity investment is sold. The difference between the profit or loss for the 
year, resulting from the conversion using average exchange rates, and the profit or loss for the year resulting from the conversion 
using year-end exchange rates, is recorded in the ‘Reserve for conversion differences” under shareholders’ equity.
Transactions in a foreign currency are recorded using the exchange rate applicable on the date of the transaction. Monetary 
assets and liabilities are then converted using the exchange rate applicable as at the closing date of the financial statements. 
Exchange rate differences generated by the conversion, and any differences realized upon extinction of the transaction, are 
recorded among financial income and expenses.

Part B 
Structure and content of the financial statements
General principles
The criteria generally applied when accounting for assets and liabilities is historical cost, except for financial instruments 
valued at their Fair Value pursuant to IAS 39 (Financial Instruments). Please note that, at the date of transition to IAS/IFRS 
standards, some assets were recorded at their Fair Value instead of their historical cost.
A description of the layouts used to prepare the consolidated financial statements, in accordance with those indicated by the 
IAS 1 standard, is provided below, together with the most significant accounting standards and assessment criteria applied.

Layout of the financial statements
The Income Statement is prepared using the layout that classifies revenues and costs by type of item, highlighting interim 
results relating to EBITDA, operating profit and profit before taxes, so as to provide a more accurate representation of the Com-
pany’s normal trend of business. In fact, the chosen layout is consistent with the Company’s internal reporting and business 
management procedures and is in line with standard international practices in the energy industry.
The Comprehensive Income Statement includes any changes to ‘Other comprehensive profits/(losses)’ during the year, provi-
sionally recognised under shareholders’ equity. 
The Statement of Financial Position is prepared in accordance with the format that shows the breakdown of “current/non-cur-
rent” assets and liabilities. An asset/liability is classified as “current” when it meets one of the following criteria:
• it is expected to be realized/extinguished in, or is intended for sale or use during the normal business cycle; or
• it is held primarily for negotiating purposes, or;
• it is expected to be realized/extinguished within twelve months from the closing date of the financial statements;

If none of the above three criteria are met, the asset/liability is classified as “non-current”.
The Cash Flow Statement has been prepared using the indirect method.
The Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity, defined in accordance with IAS 1, shows the changes in shareholders’ 
equity items that refer to:
• allocation of profit for the year;
• amounts referring to transactions with shareholders (purchase and sale of treasury shares);
• all profit and loss items, net of any tax effects, which, as required by the IAS/IFRS, are alternatively charged directly 
to shareholders’ equity (actuarial gains and losses generated by the valuation of fixed benefit plans) or that have a correspon-
ding item in a shareholders’ equity reserve (effect of transactions under common control), the impact of which is then reflected 
directly under shareholders’ equity;
• changes in valuation reserves for derivative instruments used to hedge future cash flows, net of any tax effects;
• the effect of any changes to accounting standards.
For each significant item listed in the above statements, reference is included to these Explanatory Notes, which provide the 
relative information and a detailed description of the structure and changes compared to the previous year.
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Depreciation rate

 Plant and equipment  25%

 Buildings 3%

 Furniture and furnishings 20%

 Vehicles 15%

 Assets worth less than Euro 516.46 25%

 Beni di valore inferiore ai 516,46 Euro 100%

Part C
Assessment criteria
Tangible assets
Non-current tangible assets are recorded at their purchase, production or transfer cost, including any ancillary charges and 
direct costs necessary to make the asset available for use, and net of any capital grants.
Depreciation plans for tangible assets are calculated based on the assets’ estimated useful life: when this notion of depre-
ciation is applied, it translates into a percentage per year of the useful life of the assets subject to depreciation. The range of 
depreciation rates is shown in the table below:

Gains and losses from the sale or disposal of assets are calculated as the difference between the sale revenue and the net book 
value of the asset and are accounted for in the income statement for the given reporting period.
If there are indicators of impairment, non-current tangible assets are subject to an impairment test. This test is described in 
the paragraph “Impairment of assets”. Any write-downs may be subject to reversal.
The financial leasing agreement signed for the property located in San Martino Buon Albergo (VR) is recorded in the financial 
statements according to the ‘financial lease method’, as required by IAS 17, which involves the purchase of the leased asset, 
the recording of a payable for the financing and the financial charges payable being recorded in the income statement.

Intangible assets
Goodwill
In the event of companies being acquired, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired and identifiable are recorded 
at their Fair Value as at the date of acquisition. The positive difference between the acquisition cost and the Company’s stake 
in the Fair Value of these assets and liabilities is classified as “goodwill” and is recorded in the financial statements as an 
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life.
Goodwill is not amortised, but is subjected to checks to identify any impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if 
specific events or changed circumstances indicate possible impairment, in accordance with the IAS 36 standard (Impairment 
of Assets). For more information, please refer to “Impairment of assets” paragraph below.
The original value, however, shall not be restored if the reasons that led to the impairment no longer apply.
After its initial calculation, goodwill is valued at cost, net of any accumulated impairment losses. At the time of selling part 
or the entire company previously acquired and whose acquisition generated goodwill, when calculating the gain or loss on the 
sale, the corresponding residual value of goodwill is taken into account. 

Other intangible assets
Intangible assets with a finite useful life, purchased or produced in-house, are recorded under assets, in accordance with IAS 
38 (Intangible Assets), when it is likely that their use will generate future economic benefits and their cost can be reliably me-
asured. These assets are recorded at their purchase or production costs and are amortised on a straight-line basis throughout 
their estimated useful life, which shall be reviewed at least once a year. Any changes to amortisation criteria are applied pro-
spectively. The period of amortisation for non-current intangible assets recorded in the financial statements varies from three 
to five years. 
Intangible assets with a finite useful life are also checked to identify any impairment on an annual basis, or whenever there is 
reason to believe that the asset may have suffered an impairment, in accordance with IAS 36. For more information, please 
refer to the “Impairment of Assets” paragraph below. If the reasons which had justified the impairment no longer apply in 

following years, the asset is restored to its original value, within the limits of the value that the asset would have had if the 
impairment had never taken place.
Other intangible assets resulting from the acquisition of a company are recorded separately from goodwill, if their Fair Value 
can be reliably calculated.

Industrial patent and intellectual property rights
These rights consist of permanent software licences whose amortisation is calculated over three financial years starting from 
the financial year in which the relative cost was incurred.

Concessions, licenses, trademarks and similar rights
This item refers to the cost for the fixed-term licence to use the management software for the company’s “core business”, 
subject to amortisation according to a five-year plan starting from the financial year in which the licence began to be used.

Customer list
This refers to the costs to acquire customers, whether these are recorded as part of business combination transactions (IFRS 
3), specific transactions to acquire portfolios (IAS 38), or incremental costs to obtain contracts with customers (IFRS 15). 
The customer portfolio is amortised based on the churn rate, prudently valued over five financial years. If, during an asset’s 
useful life, it is not possible to retrieve the value of the intangible asset through contractual fees, the asset is disposed of and 
transferred to the income statement.
Financial assets
Equity investments
Equity investments in other companies that are classified as non-current financial assets and are not allocated to trading acti-
vities (so-called “available for sale” equity investments) are initially recorded at their Fair Value, if this can be calculated, and 
gains and losses arising from changes in Fair Value are recorded directly under shareholders’ equity until they are sold or have 
suffered a loss of value; at that time, gains or losses previously recorded under shareholders’ equity are accounted for in the 
income statement for the reporting period.
Equity investments in other smaller companies for which no Fair Value is available, are recorded at cost in the income state-
ment, written down as necessary in the event of any impairment losses.

Impairment of assets
At each reporting date, if the conditions are met to do so, the Group reviews the book value of its tangible and intangible assets 
in order to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered impairment (the so-called “Impairment 
test”), in accordance with IAS 36 (Impairment of Assets). 
The impairment test is used to estimate the recoverable amount of these assets in order to calculate any write-down amount. 
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 
the cash generating unit, or “CGU”, to which the asset belongs.
The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in use of the asset or of the CGU. 
The value in use of an asset or of a CGU is equal to the current value of the expected cash flows, calculated by applying a 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. Future 
cash flows refer to those expected over a given time span of between three and five years, as well as those taken from the last 
year of the time span used to estimate the final value. 
The long-term growth rate used for the purpose of estimating the final value of the cash-generating unit is taken to an extent 
not exceeding the average rate of long-term growth in the industry, country or market where the asset or the cash-generating 
unit operates.
The value in use of the asset or CGU in a foreign currency is estimated in local currency by discounting these flows on the basis 
of an appropriate exchange rate for said currency. The current value obtained in this way is converted into euro on the basis of 
the spot exchange rate at the reference date of the impairment test.
Future cash flows are estimated with reference to the current conditions of the cash-generating unit and, as such, neither the 
benefits of future restructuring plans for which the entity is still not committed nor future investments to improve or optimise 
the unit are factored in the calculation.
If the recoverable amount of an asset or of a CGU is estimated to be less than its book value, the latter shall be reduced to the 
lower recoverable amount. An impairment loss is immediately recorded in the income statement. 
If a write-down is no longer justified, the book value of the asset or of the CGU, with the exception of goodwill, shall be increa-
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sed to the new value calculated by estimating its recoverable amount, although this can never be higher than the net book value 
that the asset or CGU would have had if the write-down for impairment had not been applied. The restored value is recorded 
in the income statement, unless the asset is valued at the adjusted amount, in which case the write-down reversal is ascribed 
to the revaluation reserve.

Inventories
Inventories are recorded at their specific purchase cost or at their presumable realisable value based on market prices, whi-
chever is lower.
Obsolete and/or slow to move inventories are written down in relation to their presumed future use or realization possibility, 
by posting them to a specific adjustment provision. Write-downs are written back in subsequent periods if the reasons for the 
write-down cease to apply.

Financial instruments
Initial recognition
Trade receivables are recorded when they first originate. All other financial assets and liabilities are initially recorded at their 
trade date, i.e. when the company becomes a party to the contract for the financial instrument. With the exception of trade 
receivables that do not have a significant financial component, financial assets are first valued at their Fair Value plus or minus 
the transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or to the issuance of the financial asset, in the case of 
financial assets or liabilities that are not valued at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss (FVTPL).
Upon initial recognition, trade receivables without a significant financial component are valued at their transaction price.

Classification
Upon initial recognition, a financial asset is classified based on its amortised cost or Fair Value, recorded in the result for the 
year.
A financial asset must be valued using the amortised cost method if both of the following conditions are met and if the FVTPL 
is not applicable:
- the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect their contractual cash flows;
- the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of prin-
cipal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.
All financial assets not valued using the amortised cost method are valued at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities are classified as having been valued at their amortised cost.

Subsequent valuations
Financial assets valued at FVTPL are subsequently valued at their Fair Value. Net gains and losses are therefore included in 
the result for the year.
Financial assets and liabilities valued using the amortised cost method are subsequently valued in accordance with the effecti-
ve interest method. Interest payable and exchange rate gains/losses are recorded as part of the result for the year, as are any 
gains or losses deriving from derecognition.
Expected credit losses are valued based on the ECL (Expected Credit Loss) model, based on estimated credit losses, weighted 
based on probability. Credit losses refer to the current value of all missing payments (i.e. the difference between the cash flows 
due to the company pursuant to the contract and the cash flows which the company expects to receive). 

Derecognition
Financial assets are removed from the financial statements when the contractual rights over the cash flows relating to them 
expire, when the contractual rights to receive the relevant cash flows are transferred or when the control of the financial asset 
ceases to exist. If the company is involved in transactions that transfer assets recorded under assets on its balance sheet but 
keeps all or substantially all risks and benefits deriving from said assets, then the transferred assets are not subject to dere-
cognition.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the contract has been fulfilled or cancelled or has expi-
red. The company shall also derecognise a financial liability if the relative contractual terms and conditions change, if the 
cash flows for the altered liability substantially differ from those of the liability before the change. In this case, a new financial 

liability is recorded at fair value, based on the amended contractual terms and conditions. The effect of this change is recorded 
in the income statement.

Offsetting financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities can be offset, and the amount deriving from said offsetting is recorded in the financial state-
ments if, and only if, there is the legal right to offset the relative amounts, and there is the intention to settle on a net basis or 
to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments
IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 require financial instruments valued at fair value to be classified based on the quality of the sources used 
to calculate said fair value. In particular, IFRS 7 and IFRS 13 define three levels of fair value:
- Level 1: this level refers to financial assets/liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on the listed prices on active 
markets, both official and OTC, of identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2: this level refers to financial assets/liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on input other than the 
listed prices referred to by Level 1, but that can be directly or indirectly observed on the market for said assets/liabilities;
- Level 3: this level refers to financial assets/liabilities whose fair value is calculated based on market data that cannot 
be observed. This category includes instruments valued based on internal estimates, made using methodologies that follow 
industry best practices.
With regard to the mark-to-market valuation method for open positions as at year-end date, for the purpose of calculating Fair 
Value, the company applies valuation techniques that make as much use as possible of “market” data and, likewise, relies as 
little as possible on specific inputs from within the Company. In fact, the settlement price of equivalent products traded on 
regulated markets is used to calculate the Fair Value of these contracts.
If the official settlement price is not available, the “last trade” is used, otherwise the settlement price is used from the contract 
whose underlying elements are as close as possible to the reference market (best proxy).
For contracts with non-standard delivery conditions, for which no settlement price is applicable from the relative exchanges, 
the non-arbitrage logic is applied to create the price curves necessary for the valuation to calculate the mark-to-market, on the 
basis of the settlement data available from the relevant exchanges.

Accounting standard IFRS 7 (Financial Instruments: Disclosures) requires a description of the goals, policies and procedures 
applied by the Company for the different types of financial risks (liquidity, market and credit) to which the Company is exposed, 
including a sensitivity analysis for each type of market risk (exchange rate, interest rate, equity, commodity) and information 
regarding the average, minimum and maximum concentration and exposure to various types of risk during the reporting period, 
if the exposure at the end of the period is not sufficiently representative.
Accounting standard IAS 1 governs, among other things, the obligation to provide information about the goals, policies and 
processes for managing capital, specifying, if capital requirements are imposed by third parties, the nature and the methods 
of management and any consequences of failure to comply with them. For a qualitative and quantitative analysis, please refer 
to the Management Report.

Employee benefits
Staff severance indemnity (in Italian: “TFR”) and pension contributions are calculated by applying an ‘actuarial’ method; the 
amount of rights accrued by employees during the reporting period is recorded in the income statement under the item “Per-
sonnel costs”, while the representative financial burden that the Company would incur if it were to request a loan for the same 
amount of the severance indemnity is recorded among “net financial income (expenses)”. Actuarial gains and losses that reflect 
the effects of changes in the actuarial assumptions applied are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, taking into 
account the average number of years that employees are expected to continue working for the Company.
Specifically, pursuant to Italian Budget Law no. 296 of 27 December 2006, only the liability relating to employee severance 
payments that have remained within the company was valued for IAS 19 purposes, since the amount accruing thereafter has 
been paid to a separate entity (supplementary pension funds or funds held by INPS - the Italian social security institution). As 
a result of these payments, the company shall no longer have obligations connected to the work performed by employees in the 
future (so-called defined contribution plan).
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Provisions for risks and charges
The Group records provisions for risks and charges whenever it has a legal or implicit obligation, regarding a past event, when 
it is probable that resources will be required to fulfil the obligation, and when a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
said obligation. This obligation may be legal or contractual or may derive from declarations or conduct by the Company which 
may lead third parties to reasonably expect that the Company is responsible or assumes responsibility for fulfilling an obligation 
(so-called “implicit obligations”).
Changes in estimates are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the change occurred.
If the financial effect of the timing is significant, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at 
a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the cost of borrowing in relation to the time, and the effect of 
discounting is recorded under “financial charges”.

Recognition of costs and revenues 
Sales revenues are recognised when the customer gains control over the goods or services.
The company management must make an assessment regarding the calculation of the moment when control is transferred - at 
a given moment or over time. Revenues are recorded once the contractual obligations have been fulfilled, based on the tran-
saction price that is expected to be received having duly fulfilled said obligations. 
Costs are recognised when they refer to goods and services that have been sold or consumed during the year, or through syste-
matic allocation.
Financial income and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis, based on the financed amount and the effective interest 
rate applicable, which is the rate that discounts future collections/payments estimated over the expected life of the financial 
asset/liability, to restore them to the book value of the given asset.
Dividends are accounted for when shareholders gain the right to receive the relative payment, which is normally during the year 
when the shareholders’ meeting of the investee company meets to approve the allocation of profits or reserves.

Financial income
Financial income is recorded on an accruals basis and includes interest income on invested funds, exchange gains and income 
from financial instruments. Interest receivable is recognised in profit or loss when it matures, considering the actual return.

Financial costs
Financial costs are recorded on an accruals basis and include interest expense on financial debt computed using the effective 
interest method and exchange losses.

Taxes and levies
Taxes for the year consist of the sum of current and deferred taxes:
• current taxes are based on the taxable profit for the year. Taxable income may differ from the profit reported in the 
income statement due to the positive and negative items that will be taxable or deductible in other accounting periods and also 
excludes items that will never be taxable or deductible. The current tax liability is calculated using the rates applicable as at 
the reporting date;
• prepaid and deferred taxes are taxes that the Company expects to pay or to recover on the temporary differences 
between the book value of assets and liabilities and the corresponding tax base used to calculate taxable income, determined 
by applying the tax rates in force at the time when the temporary differences will accrue or expire.
In addition, deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences arising between the tax base of an asset or a liability and 
the book value that appears in the financial statements, with the exception of goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes, 
and those differences arising from investments in subsidiaries for which cancellation is not expected in the foreseeable future. 
Deferred tax assets, on the other hand, are recorded to the extent that it is considered likely that there will be sufficient taxable 
income in the future to allow for the use of deductible temporary differences.
The book value of deferred tax assets is reviewed as at the reporting date for each set of financial statements and is reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer likely that there will be sufficient taxable income to allow for all or part of said assets to be 
recovered.
Deferred taxes are recorded directly in the income statement, except for those relating to items recorded directly in the state-
ment of comprehensive income, in which case the relative deferred taxes are also recorded in the statement of comprehensive 
income.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is the legal right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 

they refer to taxes owed to the same tax authority and the company intends to liquidate the current tax assets and liabilities 
on a net basis.

PART D
Accounting standards, amendments and newly published interpretations

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND IFRS INTERPRETATIONS APPLIED AS OF 30 SEPTEMBER 2018
The Group began applying the following accounting standards, amendments and IFRS interpretations for the first time on 1 
October 2018: 
- On 28 May 2014, the IASB published the IFRS 15 Standard – Revenue from Contracts with Customers which was 
then supplemented with additional clarifications published on 12 April 2016. This standard replaced IAS 18 – Revenue and 
IAS 11 – Construction Contracts, as well as the IFRIC 13 interpretations – Customer Loyalty Programmes, IFRIC 15 – Agre-
ements for the Construction of Real Estate, IFRIC 18 – Transfers of Assets from Customers and SIC 31 – Revenues-Barter 
Transactions Involving Advertising Services. The standard establishes a new model to recognise revenues that applies to all 
contracts concluded with customers, except those that fall within the scope of application of other IAS/IFRS standards, such 
as lease agreements, insurance contracts and financial instruments. The fundamental steps to account for revenues according 
to the new model are: 
- identification of the contract with the customer;
- identification of the contract’s performance obligations; 
- pricing;
- allocation of the price for the contract’s performance obligations;
- criteria to record revenue when the entity satisfies each performance obligation.
Furthermore, IFRS 15 introduced rules for the recording of incremental costs for the acquisition of clients, specifying that they 
must be recorded under assets on the balance sheet. 
To apply IFRS 15, the adjusted retrospective method was adopted, meaning that the effects of the new accounting standard 
were recorded in the opening balance sheet, while the balance sheet values from the previous year, presented for comparison 
purposes, were not amended. These effects led to a negative impact on the opening shareholders’ equity balance, equal to 
Euro 1,048 thousand. 
- On 24 July 2014, the IASB published the final version of IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments: recognition and measu-
rement. The document includes the results of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39. The new standard must be applied to 
financial statements starting on or after 1 January 2018. The principle introduced new criteria for the classification and mea-
surement of financial assets and liabilities. In particular, for financial assets, the new standard uses a single approach based 
on how financial instruments are managed and on the characteristics of the contractual cash flows of said financial assets, 
in order to determine the valuation criteria, replacing the various rules provided for by IAS 39. For financial liabilities, on the 
other hand, the main change regards how changes in the fair value of a financial liability are accounted for, designated as a 
financial liability measured at fair value through profit or loss, if these changes are due to the creditworthiness changing of the 
issuer for the liability in question. According to the new standard, such changes must be recorded under “Other comprehensive 
income” and no longer in the income statement. Furthermore, in the case of non-substantial changes to financial liabilities, it 
is no longer permitted to spread the economic effects of renegotiation on the residual duration of the payable by changing the 
effective interest rate at that date, but rather it shall be necessary to record the relative effect in the income statement.  With 
reference to impairment, the new standard requires that credit losses be estimated on the basis of the expected losses model 
(and not on the incurred losses model used by IAS 39), using supportable information, available free of charge and without 
involving an unreasonable amount of effort, which includes historical, current and forward-looking data; The standard states 
that this impairment model shall be applied to all financial instruments, i.e. financial assets valued using the amortised cost 
method, to those valued at fair value through other comprehensive income, to receivables from lease contracts and to trade 
receivables. Lastly, the standard introduces a new hedge accounting model in order to adjust IAS 39 requirements, which were 
sometimes considered too strict and not suitable to reflect companies’ risk management policies. The main new features of the 
document concern: 
- the increase of the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, including also the risks of non-financial assets/liabili-
ties eligible for hedge accounting pursuant to IAS 39;
- the change in how forward contracts and options are accounted for when included in a hedge accounting relationship, in order 
to reduce income statement volatility;
- changes to the impairment test by replacing the current methods based on “80-125%” criteria with the “economic rela-
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Right of use 255.788

Total value of the liability 255.788

- of which short-term 36.665

- of which medium/long-term 219.122

tionship” principle between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. In addition, the retrospective effectiveness of the 
hedging relationship will no longer need to be assessed.
The greater flexibility of the new accounting rules is offset by additional requests for disclosure on what the company does in 
terms of risk management. 
The standard was applied starting from 1 January 2018, adopting the adjusted retrospective method. As a result, no changes 
were made to the comparison tables and the relative impacts were recorded in the opening shareholders’ equity balance. With 
regard to the main changes introduced by IFRS 9, a negative impact equal to Euro 760 thousand was recorded in the balance 
sheet.
- On 20 June 2016, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 2 “Classification and measurement of share-based 
payment transactions”, which contains some clarifications on how to account for the effects of vesting conditions in the pre-
sence of cash-settled share-based payments, on the classification of share-based payments with net settlement characteristics 
and on how to account for changes to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that change its classification from 
cash-settled to equity-settled. These changes became applicable as of 1 October 2018. The adoption of this amendment had 
no effect on the company’s financial statements.
- On 12 December 2017, the IASB published the document “Annual Improvements to IFRSs: 2015-2017 Cycle”, 
which incorporates changes of some standards as part of the annual process to improve said standards. The main changes 
concern:
- IFRS 3 Business Combinations e IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements: the amendment clarifies that when an entity obtains control 
of a business that represents a joint operation, shall remeasure the interest previously detained by said business.
- IAS 12 Income Taxes: the amendment clarifies that the income tax consequences of dividends (including payments on fi-
nancial assets classified within the total net assets) should be accounted for in a manner consistent with the transaction that 
generated those profits (Income statement, OCI or net assets)
- IAS 23 Borrowing costs: this amendment clarifies that in case of funding that still remain even after the referred qualifying 
asset is ready to be used or sold, the said funding become part of the funding used to calculate the borrowing costs.
It is noted that the adoption of this amendment does not have effects on the consolidated income statements of the Group.
- IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities – Clarification of the scope of the Standard. 
This amendment clarifies the scope of application of IFRS 12, specifying that the disclosures required by the standard, with 
the exception of those stated in paragraphs B10-B16, shall apply to all ownership interests that are classified as being held for 
sale, held for distribution to shareholders or as discontinued operations pursuant to IFRS 5. This change became applicable as 
of 1 October 2018. The adoption of these amendments had no effect on the company’s financial statements.

ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS OF IFRS AND IFRIC, ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN 
UNION, NOT YET MANDATORY AND NOT ADOPTED IN ADVANCE
- On 13 January 2016, the IASB published IFRS 16 – Leases, which will replace IAS 17 – Leases, as well as the IFRIC 
4 interpretations - Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC- 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC- 27 
Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The new standard provides a new definition of a 
lease and introduces criteria based on the control (right of use) of an asset for distinguishing lease agreements from contracts 
for the provision of services, identifying the following discriminating factors: the identification of the asset, the right to replace 
the asset, the right to receive substantially all the economic benefits arising from use of the asset and the right to direct use of 
the asset covered by the agreement.  The standard establishes a single model to recognise and value lease agreements for the 
lessee, which involves the asset covered by the lease, including operating leases, being recorded under assets with a correspon-
ding entry under financial payables. With regard to lessors, on the other hand, the Standard does not introduce any significant 
changes. The standard became applicable on 1 January 2019, although early application was permitted. The Group completed 
a preliminary assessment of the potential impacts of applying the new standard as at the transition date (1 october 2019). 
This process was made up of various phases, including the complete mapping of all contracts that may potentially contain a 
lease and the analysis of them in order to understand the main significant clauses for IFRS 16 purposes. Applying the new 
standard to the contracts identified will lead to the following being initially recorded in the balance sheet: (i) an asset, repre-
senting the right of use pursuant to IFRS 16 (equal to the current value of the minimum mandatory future lease instalments 
that the lessee must pay starting from 1 October 2019, including prepaid expenses) which shall be amortised over either the 
economic-technical life or the residual duration of the contract, whichever is shorter; and (ii) a financial payable equal to the 
current value of the minimum mandatory future instalments that the lessee must pay starting from 1 October 2020, including 
accrued expenses not yet settled as at the transition date. The payable will be subsequently reduced as the lease instalments 
are progressively paid. In the 2020 income statement, the lease fee will no longer be included in EBITDA; the following will be 

recorded instead: (i) amortisation of the right of use; and (ii) the financial expenses on the payable recognised.
With regard to its adoption of IFRS 16, the company intends to apply the exemption permitted by paragraph IFRS 16.5(a) in 
relation to short-term leases, and the exemption permitted by IFRS 16.5(b) regarding lease agreements for which the under-
lying asset is a low-value asset. For these contracts, introduction of IFRS 16 will not mean that financial liabilities are recorded 
for the lease and relating to the right of use, but lease fees will be recorded in the income statement on a straight-line basis for 
the duration of the respective contracts. 

The following table shows the expected impacts of adopting IFRS 16 as of 1 October 2019:

- On 7 June 2017, the IASB published the interpretation “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (IFRIC Interpreta-
tion 23)”. This interpretation addresses the matter of uncertainties regarding the tax treatment to be adopted for income tax. 
In particular, the interpretation asks an entity to analyse uncertain tax treatments (individually or together, depending on the 
relative characteristics), always assuming that the tax authority shall examine the fiscal position in question, being fully aware 
of all relevant information. Should the entity deem it unlikely that the tax authority would accept the tax treatment applied, 
then said entity must reflect the effect of this uncertainty when calculating its current and deferred income tax. In addition, 
the document does not contain any new disclosure requirements, but underlines that the entity must determine whether it 
will be necessary to provide information on the considerations made by management and relating to the uncertainty regarding 
the accounting for taxes, in accordance with the provisions of IAS 1. This new interpretation became applicable on 1 January 
2019, but early application is permitted. Since adopting this interpretation, the directors do not expect any significant effects 
on the financial statements for the year.
- On 31 October 2018 the IASB published the document “Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)”. 
The document introduced a change on the definition of “relevant” contained in the IAS 1 principles – Presentation of Financial 
Statements and IAS 8 – Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. Said amendment aims to make 
more specific the definition of “relevant” and introduces the concept of “obscured information” next to the concepts of omitted 
or wrong information already present in the two principles subject of the change. The amendment clarifies that an information 
is “obscured” when it has been described in a way that would have to the first readers of the Financial Statements the same 
effect as if the information was omitted or wrong. The changes introduced have been approved on 29 November 2019 and will 
be applied to all the operations following 1 January 2020.
- On 29 March 2018 the IASB published an amendment regarding the “References to the Conceptual Framework in 
IFRS Standards”. The amendment is effective for the periods starting on 1 January 2020 or followings. However, an earlier 
application is allowed.
The Conceptual Framework defines the fundamental concepts of the financial reporting regime and guides the Council on the 
development of the IFRS standards. The document helps to guarantee that the standards are conceptually coherent and that 
similar transactions are treated in the same manner in order to provide useful information to investors, lenders and other credi-
tors. The Conceptual Framework supports the companies on the development of accounting principles when no IFRS standard 
is applicable to a specific transaction and helps the parties involved to comprehend and the standards.

IFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET ENDORSED BY THE EUROPEAN 
UNION
As at the closing date of these consolidated financial statements, the competent bodies of the European Union had not yet 
approved application of the amendments and accounting standards described below. 

- “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to IAS 28)”.
- “Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle”
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- “Plant Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement (Amendments to IAS 19)”.
- “Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)”.
- “Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)”. 
- “IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sales or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture”

The directors do not expect the adoption of this interpretation to have a significant effect on the financial statements. 

Part E
Other information relevant to the preparation of the financial statements
Use of estimates
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires the Directors to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
the revenue, cost, asset and liability amounts reported, as well as on the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the 
reporting date of the consolidated financial statements. 
These estimates and assumptions are based on experience and other factors deemed to be relevant. The actual results that will 
be recorded may therefore differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly and the effects of 
any changes made to them are reflected in the income statement in the period in which the estimate is revised, if said revision 
affects only that period, or also in subsequent periods if the revision affects both the current year and future years.
Please find below a summary of the critical evaluation processes used by the Group in the process of applying the accounting 
standards regarding future events that may have significant effects on the values reported in the consolidated financial state-
ments, or that may lead to significant value adjustments to the book value of the assets and liabilities in the year after the one 
referred to by the financial statements.

Credit impairment provision
This item reflects the company’s estimate of the losses on its portfolio of receivables, calculated based on the Expected Credit 
Loss model.
Allocations are therefore made to this provision when credit losses are expected, estimated based on past experience with 
receivables with a similar credit risk, as well as on careful monitoring of the quality of the portfolio of receivables.
Estimates and assumptions are reviewed regularly and the effects of any changes are reflected in the income statement in the 
period of reference.
Recoverability of non-current tangible and intangible assets 
Tangible and intangible assets are written-down when events or changes in circumstances imply that their book value is not 
recoverable.
The types of events that can result in a write-down of assets include: change in business plans, changes in market prices and 
foreign exchange rates that may result in weaker operating performance, reduced plant use, changes, updates of the pharma-
ceutical regulatory framework, and changes in the cash flow discount rates.
The decision whether to write-down an asset and the quantification of this depends on the Directors’ assessment of complex 
and highly uncertain factors, including the future trend of prices and foreign exchange rates, the impact of inflation and tech-
nological advances on production factors, production profiles and conditions of supply and demand on a global, national and 
regional scale.
The write-down is calculated by comparing the book value in the financial statements for the asset or cash-generating unit to 
which it belongs, with its recoverable amount, represented by the higher of the Fair Value net of disposal costs, and the value 
in use calculated by discounting the expected cash flows resulting from the use of the asset or assets belonging to the cash-ge-
nerating unit, net of disposal costs. Expected cash flows are calculated in light of the information available at the time of the 
estimate and are based on subjective judgements on the performance of future variables - such as price, cost, demand growth 
rates and production profiles - and are discounted applying a rate, net of taxes, that takes into account the risk regarding the 
asset concerned.

The loss in the value of an asset is restored when there is reason to believe that this loss has been reduced/no longer exists, or 
when there has been a change in the estimates used to calculate the recoverable amount.

Recoverability of prepaid taxes 
As at 30 September 2019, the consolidated financial statements report prepaid tax assets that are related to temporary 
differences being recorded between the statutory values and their values recognised for tax purposes, which can be used in 

subsequent years within the limits of the Group’s ability to generate taxable profits.
The valuation of the aforementioned recoverability takes into account the estimate of future taxable income.

Pension plans
The staff severance indemnity can be classed as a defined-benefit plan.
The Group applies various statistical assumptions and evaluation factors with the aim of anticipating future events, for calcu-
lating charges, liabilities and assets relating to these plans. Assumptions concern the discount rate, the expected return on the 
plan assets and the rates of future salary increases. In addition, the Group’s actuary consultants apply subjective factors, such 
as the relative rates of mortality and turnover.

Other financial statement items
In addition to the items mentioned above, estimates were made:
• when calculating the useful life of tangible and intangible assets for the purpose of calculating the relative deprecia-
tion and amortisation;
• on the unrealised profits/losses (Fair Value) of derivative financial instruments.

Risk management
With regard to the information required by Art. 2428, paragraph 2, number 6-bis, of the Italian Civil Code, which calls for a 
description of the goals, policies and risks involved with financial risk management, please refer to the following paragraph 
“Information on financial risks” which provides a detailed description, and to the Management Report.
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Notes Current Variazione

NON-CURRENT ASSETS period Previous

Tangible assets period 1.939.294 1.407.358

Land 430.000 581.988

Property 1.265.155 581.585

Plant and equipment 112.619 167.437

Vehicles 17.083 0

Other property, plant and equipment 114.437 76.348

Intangible assets 2 41.232.354 9.258.753

Patents, trademarks and other rights 519.552 218.541

Customer list 31.672.590 0

Goodwill 9.040.212 9.040.212

Financial assets 3 3.549.705 2.774.551

Equity investments 3.549.705 2.774.551

Deferred tax assets 4 1.022.305 556.225

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS 47.743.658 13.996.887

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories 5 1.282.067 2.108.301

Financial assets 6 82.683 1.202.383

Current tax assets 7 4.061.667 2.087.877

Trade receivables 8 272.704.146 98.172.051

Cash and cash equivalents 9 5.206.117 5.777.158

Other assets 10 9.859.773 17.241.807

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 293.196.452 126.589.577

TOTAL ASSETS 340.940.110 140.586.464

Current period Previous period

Land 430.000 581.988

Property 1.265.155 581.585

Plant and equipment 112.619 167.437

Vehicles 17.083 0

Other Property, Plant and Equipment 114.437 76.348

Total 1.939.294 1.407.358

 Land Property Plant and equip-
ment

Opening CS 581.988 730.891  20.746 

Increases 0 0 (A) 123.339 

Decreases 0 -32.953  0 

Reclassifications (in progress) -151.988 151.988  0 

Increases (in progress) 0 597.488  0 

Final CS 430.000 1.447.414  144.085 

Opening depreciation 0 -149.306  -16.196 

Increases (CE) 0 -32.953  -8.667 

Increases Edlo 0 0  -6.603 

Decreases 0 0  0 

Final depreciation 0 -182.259  -31.466 

Final VNC 430.000 1.265.155  112.619 

(A) Acquired through Edlo business unit:

CS 32.410

Depreciation -6.603

VNC 25.807

Part F
Information on the Statement of Financial Position
All items are listed in units of euro.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

1. TANGIBLE ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment amounted to Euro 1,939,294 (Euro 1,407,358 in the previous year) and are valued at cost.
The item’s structure, any changes in value during the year and other relevant information are provided and commented on 
below.
Tangible assets: breakdown by valuation criterion
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 Vehicles Other  Total

Opening CS 0 337.593  1.671.218 

Increases 19.770 141.087 (B) 284.196 

Decreases 0 0  -32.953 

Reclassifications (in progress) 0 0  0 

Increases (in progress) 0 0  597.488 

Final CS 19.770 478.680  2.519.949 

Opening depreciation 0 -261.245  -426.747 

Increases (CE) -2.687 -37.178  -81.485 

Increases Edlo 0 -65.820  -72.423 

Decreases 0 0  0 

Final depreciation -2.687 -364.243  -580.655 

Final VNC 17.083 114.437  1.939.294 

(B) Acquired through Edlo business unit:

 Patents, trademar-
ks and other rights Goodwill Customer List Total - overall 

values

Opening CS 327.952 9.040.212 0 9.368.164

Increases 337.964 0 35.199.399 35.537.363

Increase from Edlo 65.770 0 0 (A) 65.770

Decreases 0 0 -1.201.880 -1.201.880

Reclassification (in progress) 5.911 0 0 5.911

Increases (in progress) 125.300 0 0 125.300

Final CS 862.897 9.040.212 33.997.519 43.900.628

Opening depreciation -109.411 0 0 -109.411

Increases (a ce) -86.426 0 -2.545.273 -2.631.699

Increases from Edlo -38.097 0 0 -38.097

Consolidated reclassification -109.411 0 0 -109.411

Decreases 0 0 220.345 220.345

Final depreciation -343.345  -2.324.928 -2.668.273

VNC 519.552 9.040.212 31.672.591 41.232.355

(A)  Acquired through Edlo business unit:
CS 97.505

Depreciation -65.820

VNC 31.685
CS 65.770

Depreciation -38.097

VNC 27.673

Patents, trademarks and other rights: these refer to costs for the purchase and development of the website, the Energy Trading 
Risk Management software, the CRM and billing software licences and the licences for the use of general ledger software. Fur-
thermore, over the course of the year, licences were also purchased for the in-house development of “Billing” and accounting, 
equal to Euro 125,300.

The goodwill recorded in the financial statements, for a total of Euro 9,040,212, is made up of Euro 667,095 for the exchange 
deficit generated following the merger by incorporation of Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. into Europe Energy S.p.A. (so-called 
reverse merger), the accounting and tax effects of which began on 1 April 2014.
Euro 8,373,117 refer to the goodwill resulting from the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) calculated by the bankruptcy proce-
dure for Gascom S.r.l. in Liquidazione, upon the purchase in 2017 of the company selling electricity and natural gas to end 
customers, previously leased by the aforementioned company.

The item ‘Customer list’ amounted to Euro 31,672,590 and the cost was fully incurred during the reporting period in question. 
This refers to the significant investments made by the company to consolidate its market position. 
More specifically, this amount refers to the following:
- Acquisition of a business branch from Edlo Energy S.p.A. which took effect on 01.10.2018. This acquisition was 
recorded as a business combination pursuant to IFRS 3. The Purchase Price Allocation was definitively recorded in these 

The non-current tangible assets listed above have a finite useful life and are therefore subject to depreciation (there are no 
accumulated losses in value to report).
The item “Land and Property” mainly refers to:
- property, acquired through a lease agreement entered into in 2014, for which the right to acquire ownership was 
exercised on 01/04/2019. This property is used as the operating headquarters of Europe Energy S.p.A. in San Martino Buon 
Albergo (VR), Italy, in relation to which the land is worth Euro 140,000 and the building is worth Euro 560,000, along with 
the relative depreciation amount equal to Euro 92,400;
- properties being built which will be home to the company’s new headquarters, worth Euro 703,551.

2. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets amounted to Euro 41,232,354 (Euro 9,258,753 in the previous year).
The item’s structure, any changes in value during the year and other relevant information are provided and commented on 
below.
Intangible assets: breakdown by valuation criterion

Current period Previous period

Patents, trademarks and other rights 5.824.000 1.666.000

Customer list 74.445 1.194.145

Goodwill 1.200.000 1.150.000

Total 850 850

Intangible assets: changes
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financial statements and involved the total excess price paid compared with the book value of the net assets acquired being 
allocated to the customer list.
- Acquisition of a customer portfolio from Green Network S.p.A., which took effect on 01/07/2019. The asset acquired 
has been defined as a group of assets pursuant to IAS 38 and, as a result, the Purchase Price Allocation process was not ne-
cessary.
- In accordance with the newly applicable IFRS 15, incremental costs of obtaining contracts with customers that are 
expected to be recovered over the coming years shall be recorded, billing said customers for the contractual fees. This item 
includes the capitalisation of commissions paid to agencies It should be noted that the company has opted to take the practi-
cal measure permitted by IFRS 15, § 94, of directly recording the cost amount that would have had an inferior amortisation 
amount for the year in the income statement, without going via non-current assets. This cost is recorded among operating costs.

Recoverability of intangible assets and goodwill
During the reporting period, there were no indications of impairment loss with regard to intangible assets and goodwill.

3. Financial assets
Equity investments in associated companies
Equity investments in associated companies amounted to Euro 3,549,705 (Euro 2,774,551 in the previous year).

Current period Previous period Shareholding Sede Operativa 
principale

LE Trading AS %
Main headquar-

ters
30%

Slovacchia – Bra-
tislava

Energia Gas & Power Doo (Serbia) 2.175.154 2.000.000 35% Serbia - Belgrado

Energia Gas & Power Doo (Croatia) 10.000 10.000 50% Croazia - Zagabria

Total 3.549.705 2.774.551

Equity investments in associated companies: changes 

Equity investments

A. Opening Value 2.774.551

B. Increases 775.154 

B.1 Capital increase LE Trading As 600.000

B.2 Share value increase in Energia Gas & Power Doo (Serbia) 175.154

C. Decreases 0

C.1 Sales 0

C.2 Other changes 0

D. Closing balance 3.549.705 

LE Trading AS, a company incorporated under Slovak law, with a value of Euro 1,364,551, is an associated company as it is 
30% owned.
As better highlighted in the management report, the shares held in the Balkans are listed under the investments. The compa-
nies, both subsidiaries and associates, are mainly start-ups in their respective markets. Therefore, the current financial position 
of the aforementioned companies is at a stage where there are some investments of a certain relevance without an immediate 
return on investment.
We must remember the strategic importance of the presence in the Balkan area, as it includes a user base extremely close to 
us in terms of location and culture. In these countries the liberalization of the energy markets is happening only in the past few 
years, with a 10/15-year delay compared to Italy and continental Europe. They are countries with an average economic growth 
of 3.8% and a current cultural change that drives the population to adopt consumer behaviours more similar to those of other 
western countries. This reflects on the consumers’ purchase patterns on the energy markets as well, as they are making more 
conscious choices when switching to another provider.
The number of the energy provider on the market is a clear indication of the current transformation. From 2013, according to 
the latest statistics available, the number of providers of natural gas to end clients has risen from 3 to 46 in Croatia, from 27 
to 86 in Romania and from 0 to 39 in Serbia (in Italy there is a total of 420 natural gas providers, but after the initial boom 
they only have rose of 8 units in the past 15 years). We can see the same pattern in the electricity market where the number 
providers has risen from 1 to 9 in Croatia, from 8 to 105 in Romania and from 8 to 21 in Slovenia. Therefore, we believe that 
bringing to these countries the same commercial strategies we adopted in Italy in the past years has an extremely important 
strategic value.
Regarding the valorisation of our investments, we clarify that the accurate quantitative elaborations that we have run do not 
detect permanent losses of said investments. The operations of value construction, mainly focused on growing the client base, 
are running smoothly considering the markets they are operating in and we can confirm the assumption of profitability in the 
medium term forecasted by the management.

4. Deferred tax assets
The receivables for prepaid taxes recorded in the financial statements, for a total of Euro 1,022,305 (Euro 556,225 in the 
previous year), refer to the receivable for IRES (Corporate Income Tax) deferred tax assets set aside for certain categories of 
expenses incurred over the year, but whose fiscal recognition is deferred to future years, when the conditions established by tax 
legislation shall apply to the individual case. With reference to the structure of this financial statement item, please refer to the 
details provided in the section “Tax expenses / (income)” later in this document.
It should also be noted that deferred tax assets are only accounted for if the management believes that there is reasonable cer-
tainty that, in subsequent years, the company will be able to generate taxable income able to fully recover the credits recorded.
The breakdown of deferred tax assets and the nature of the items and of the temporary differences that give rise to them are 
provided below.
Prepaid tax assets: details for current year and previous year
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IRES (Corporate 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

IRAP (Regional 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

Total offsetting 
item in Income 

Statement - 
Current year

Total for the 
current period

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

-12.095 0 -12.065 17.563

Amortisation of intangible assets IAS -5.086 0 -5.086 0

Write-down of securities 0 0 0 268.153

Amortisation of customer list (dual 
approach)

351.011 57.039 408.050 408.050

Taxed credit impairment provision -192.000 0 -192.000 72.000

Prepaid taxes for adoption of IFRS9 
(not recorded in the income statement)

0 0 0 240.000

Other prepaid taxes 258 0 258 16.538

Total 142.088 57.039 199.157 1.022.305

IRES (Corporate 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Previous year

IRAP (Regional 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Previous year

Total offsetting 
item in Income 

Statement - 
Previous year

Total previous 
year

Benefits after the end of the 
employment relationship

-6.231 0 -6.231 5.469

Amortisation of intangible assets IAS -4.876 0 -4.876 6.139

Losses from previous years carried 
forward

-46.871 0 -46.871 0

Write-down of securities 0 0 0 268.153

Lease agreements -62.699 0 -62.699 0

Taxed credit impairment provision 120.000 0 120.000 264.000

Risk provision 0 0 0 0

Other prepaid taxes -2.540 0 -2.540 12.464

Total -3.217 0 -3.217 556.225

Previous 
period

Increases in 
prepaid taxes 
recorded in 
the Income 

Statement for 
the year

Decreases in 
prepaid taxes 
recorded in 
the Income 

Statement for 
the year

Other 
changes

Current 
period

Benefits after the end of the employment 
relationship

5.469 12.095 0 0 17.563

Amortisation of intangible assets IAS 6.139 0 -6.139 0 0

Prepaid taxes for adoption of IFRS9
(not recorded in the income statement)

0 0 0 240.000 240.000

Write-down of securities 268.153 0 0 0 268.153

Amortisation of customer list (dual 
approach)

0 408.050 0 0 408.050

Taxed credit impairment provision 264.000 72.000 -264.000 0 72.000

Other prepaid taxes 12.464 16.538 -12.464 0 16.538

Total 556.225 508.683 282.603 240.000 1.022.305

Prepaid tax assets: changes

CURRENT ASSETS
5. Inventories
Inventories amounted to Euro 1,282,067 (Euro 2,108,301 in the previous year).
These refer to natural gas inventories stored at Stogit S.p.A. for the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A. and stored at S.N.G.N.ROM-
GAZ S.A. Filiala De Inmagazinare Gaze Naturale DEPOGAZ Ploiesti S.R.L. for the Romanian subsidiary Energia Gas & Power 
S.r.l..
As of 30 September 2019, 43,435.51 MWh were stored in Italy and 11,147 MWh were stored in Romania, which were valued 
using the monthly weighted average cost method.

6. Financial assets
Financial assets amounted to Euro 82,683 (Euro 1,202,383 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

Other financial assets - structure 

Current period Previous period

Receivables due from associated companies 81.833 1.201.533

Financial receivables 0 0

Other securities 850 850

Total current financial assets 82.683 1.202.383
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These mainly refer to financial receivables for the following amounts:
Euro 32,939 due from the Slovak company LE Trading AS;
Euro 48,894 due from the Croatian company Energia Gas & Power D.O.O..
All outstanding loans are interest-bearing at the market rate.

This item also includes securities, as described below:

Other current financial assets Current period Previous period

10 shares in BCC Banca di Verona 850 850

Total 850 850

To date, these assets are still part of the portfolio.

7. Current tax assets
Current tax assets amounted to Euro 4,061,667 (Euro 2,087,877 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

Current period Previous period

VAT receivables 2.334.757 1.441.028

Research and development tax credit 0 170.136

Withholdings 4.548 125

Other receivables 1.722.362 476.588

Total current tax assets 4.061.667 2.087.877

Current period Previous period

Due from third parties 261.035.682 99.350.159

Due from non-consolidated Group companies 14.419.255 405.621

Total trade receivables - gross 275.454.932 99.755.780

Credit impairment provision -2.750.791 -1.583.729

Total trade receivables - net 272.704.146 98.172.051

The item “others” mainly consists of net receivables for Energy and Gas excise duties and surcharges from 2017 and 2018, 
which will be recovered with the presentation of the 2019 “UTF” declaration (regarding excise duties).

8. Trade receivables
Trade receivables, net of write-downs, amounted to Euro 272,704,146 (Euro 98,172,051 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

The increase in receivables is due to an increase in the volumes of electricity and gas sold and purchased, as well as to the 
dispatching services provided to third parties, This trend is substantially in line with revenue performance during the last part 
of the year, compared with the same period of the previous year.

The credit impairment provision underwent the following changes during the reporting period:

Previous 
period

Allocations to 
the provision 

during the year

Use/Release
during the year

Shareholders’
Equity (IFRS 9)

Current 
period

Credit impairment pro-
vision

483.729 1.397.095 -430.033 0 1.450.791

Taxed credit impairment 
provision

1.100.000 300.000 -1.100.000 1.000.000 1.300.000

Total 1.583.729 1.697.095 -1.530.033 1.000.000 2.750.791

During the financial year, the company continued to analyse some types of receivables in a timely manner, including through 
companies specialising in debt collection.
As provided for by IFRS 9, the method used to calculate write-downs was changed from Incurred Loss to Expected Credit Loss. 
The initial effect of adopting this new method was recorded under shareholders’ equity with the adjusted retrospective method, 
and led to a gradual write-down compared with the one that would have been applied using the previous method, especially for 
categories of receivables due to expire and expired within 30 days. 
Impairment criteria were reviewed for all receivables, taking into account prudent estimates of overall future credit performance 
and based on the characteristics of the customers. Analysis-based criteria were also adopted to assess the likelihood of the 
most significant receivables being paid. For receivables due from users, each with an insignificant individual value, the cha-
racteristics of the categories of customers were taken into consideration, such as their age and any appointed debt collection 
agency. 

The breakdown of trade receivables by geographic area is provided below:

Italy EU Non-EU Total

Trade receivables 256.871.015 15.833.131 0 272.704.146

9. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents amounted to Euro 5,206,117 (Euro 5,777,158 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

Current period Previous period

Cash on hand 355 583

Bank deposits 5.202.928 5.776.575

Other 2834 0

Total 5.206.117 5.777.158
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With reference to bank accounts, please note that, as of the closing date of the financial statements, a total amount of Euro 
2,073,757 has been used as guarantee for lines of credit granted by Italian and foreign credit institutions (Euro 2,152,287 
at 30/09/2018). 

10. Other assets
Other assets amounted to Euro 9,859,772 (Euro 17,241,807 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

The composition of and distinction between current and non-current amounts are shown below:

The item “Security deposits” mainly includes the deposit paid to GME to guarantee purchases of electricity and other security 
deposits paid to Snam Rete Gas, Terna, CEGH and other suppliers to guarantee existing contracts.

The zeroing of prepaid expenses relating to agent commissions is a result of adopting IFRS 15, involving a change to how 
commissions are accounted for, as described above.
Please note that there are no accruals and deferrals exceeding five years recorded in the financial statements as of 30/09/2019.

“Advance payments to suppliers” refer to advances paid to agents on future commissions and to advance payment invoices for 
the purchase of electricity from companies that own photovoltaic systems.
The item “Others” mainly includes “Receivables for MTM” that are contracts for the purchase/sale of electricity and gas for 
Euro 4,217,684 (Euro 13,752,893 at 30/09/2018) valued at “Mark to Market”,  which represents the value as at the date of 
preparation of the financial statements of the contracts entered into by the Company (portfolio) after the reporting date.

 Current period Previous period

Receivables due from social security institutions 13.547 7.681

Accrued income and prepaid expenses 626.310 1.741.629

Security deposits 3.072.150 1.533.633

Other assets 6.147.765 13.958.864

Total 9.859.772 17.241.807

Accrued income and prepaid expenses Current period Previous period

Agent commissions 0 1.486.617

Subscription/membership fees 20.162 17.322

Insurance, bank guarantees 136.348 45.288

Others 469.800 192.402

Total 626.310 1.741.629

Other assets Current period Previous period

Advance payments to suppliers 769.319 128.983

Others 5.378.446 13.829.881

Total 6.147.765 13.958.864

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Notes Current period Previous
period

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital 1.908.730 1.908.730

Other reserves 14.176.532 13.256.526

Profits (losses) carried forward 443 -425

Profit (loss) for the year 2.324.366 2.759.492

GROUP SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 18.410.071 17.924.323

Shareholders’ equity and profit (loss) for the year attributable 
to minority interests

-697.056 -411.835

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 11 17.713.015 17.512.488

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Non-current financial liabilities 12 1.453.666 635.628

Provisions for risks and charges 13 93.521 35.966

Staff severance pay and other employee benefits 14 661.527 415.246

Deferred tax liabilities 15 30.419 32.019

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.239.133 1.118.859

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Current financial liabilities 16 31.350.349 21.958.224

Current tax liabilities 17 5.711.475 2.276.527

Trade payables 18 280.800.286 93.970.272

Other liabilities 19 3.125.852 3.750.093

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 320.987.962 121.955.116

TOTAL LIABILITIES 323.227.095 123.073.975

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 340.940.110 140.586.464
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11. Shareholders’ equity
Information relating to each category of shares making up the share capital is provided and commented on below.

The shareholders’ equity attributable to the Group and to minority interests consists of the following items:

The Parent Company’s share capital amounts to Euro 1,908,730 and is divided into 1,908,730 shares, each with a nominal 
value of Euro 1.

Statement of reconciliation between the parent company’s shareholders’ equity and net profit and the Group’s shareholders’ 
equity and net profit
In order to better understand the composition of the Group’s shareholders’ equity and the shareholders’ equity attributable to 
minority interests, generated as a result of the adjustments made during the consolidation procedure, please find below the 
following three tables:

a) the following table refers to the preparation of the first “sub-consolidated” financial statements, which identify Energia G&P 
S.r.l. (Romania) as being the parent company for the current financial year and for the previous one:

 Current period Previous period

Share capital 1.908.730 1.908.730

- Legal reserve 195.703 195.178

- Share premium reserve 418.502 418.502

- Reserve for IAS FTA conversion 2014 0 -310

- Extraordinary reserve 5.029.894 5.019.918

- Consolidation reserve 8.523.854 7.623.241

Other reserves 14.167.953 13.256.526

Profits (losses) carried forward 443 -425

Profit (loss) for the year 1.911.389 2.759.492

Total Group Shareholders’ Equity 17.988.515 17.924.323

Minority interests -697.056 -411.835

Total Shareholders’ Equity 17.291.459 17.512.488

Shareholders’ equity Net Result

Values as per the financial statements of the parent company Ener-
gia G&P S.r.l. at 30.09.2019

-1.996.307 -1.380.876

Result and shareholders’ equity of the subsidiaries -380.509 -148.011

Elimination of the book value of equity investments -9.477 0

Shareholders’ Equity and result for the year attributable to the Group 
(A)

-2.386.291 -1.528.887

Shareholders’ Equity and result for the year attributable to minority 
interests (B)

0 0

Shareholders’ Equity as per the consolidated financial statements at 
30.09.2019 (A+B)

-2.396.291 -1.528.887

Shareholders’ equity Net Result

Values as per the financial statements of the parent company Euro-
pe Energy S.p.A. at 30.09.2019

21.188.809 3.435.887

Result and shareholders’ equity of the subsidiaries -1.701.074 -1.182.817

Elimination of the book value of equity investments -216.603 0

Shareholders’ Equity and result for the year attributable to the Group 
(A)

19.271.131 2.253.070

Shareholders’ Equity and result for the year attributable to minority 
interests (B)

-697.056 -437.725

Shareholders’ Equity as per the consolidated financial statements at 
30.09.2019 (A+B)

18.574.075 1.815.344

Shareholders’ equity Net Result

Values as per the financial statements of the parent company Euro-
pe Energy Holding at 30.09.2018

7,623,346 70,517

Result and shareholders’ equity of the subsidiaries 19,271,131 2,253,070

Elimination of the book value of equity investments -8,485,627 0

IAS effect - Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. 1,222 779

Shareholders’ Equity and result for the year attributable to the 
Group (A)

18,410,071 2,324,366

Shareholders’ Equity and result for the year attributable to minority 
interests (B)

-697,056 -437,725

Shareholders’ Equity as per the consolidated financial statements at 
30.09.2018 (A+B)

17,713,015 1,886,640

b) the following table refers to the preparation of the second “sub-consolidated” financial statements, which identify Europe 
Energy S.p.A. as being the parent company for the current financial year and for the previous one:

c) the following table instead refers to the parent company Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. which integrates the “sub-consolidated 
Europe Energy S.p.A.” subgroup for the present purposes:

Please find below the main changes to the shareholders’ equity attributable to shareholders of the parent company and to the 
shareholders’ equity attributable to minority interests during the year; the structure of and changes to the shareholders’ equity 
attributable to shareholders of the parent company and to minority interests are reported in the specific table “Changes to 
consolidated shareholders’ equity”.
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Previous period
Allocations to the 
provision during 

the year

Use/Release 
during the year Current period

FTA reserve -310 0 310 0

Current period Previous period

Provision for severance & pension liabilities and similar 
obligations

93.521 35.966

Total provisions for future risks and charges 93.521 35.966

Economic assumptions 30/09/2019 30/09/2018

Discount rate 0,14% 1,09%

Other provisions for future risks and charges

Opening balance 35.966 

Additional allocations 76.407

Provisions used -18.852

Closing balance 93.521

 Share capital and Reserves Result for the year
As at the closing date of the financial year 30.09.2017 0 0

Acquisition of equity investments in Romania (elimina-
tion in the EGP S.r.l. consolidation)

-71.524 -74.428

Acquisition of equity investments in Romania / Slovenia 
(elimination in the Europe Energy S.p.A. consolidation)

-340.311 -263.491

As at the closing date of the financial year 30.09.2018 -411.835 -337.919

 Current period Previous period Change

Share capital 1.908.730 1.908.730 0

Share premium reserve 418.502 418.502 0

Legal reserve 195.703 195.178 525

Extraordinary reserve 5.029.894 5.019.918 9.976

Consolidation reserve 8.532.434 7.623.239 909.195

IFRS reserves 0 -310 310

Profits (losses) carried forward 443 -426 869

Result for the year 2.324.366 2.759.492 -435.126

Total SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 18.410.071 17.924.322 485.749

Shareholders’ Equity attributable to minority interests amounted to Euro -697,056, of which Euro -411,385 attributable to the 
result recorded for the current year. The following changes were recorded during the year:

First-Time Adoption Reserve
This reserve refers to the values recorded when the IAS/IFRS were adopted for the first time, and underwent the following 
changes during the year:

 Share capital and 
Reserves Result for the year

As at the closing date of the financial year 30.09.2018 -411.835 -337.919

Acquisition of equity investments in Romania / Slovenia (elimina-
tion in the Europe Energy S.p.A. consolidation)

-285.221 -99.805

As at the closing date of the financial year 30.09.2019 -697.056 -437.724

The FTA reserve was included in the opening balance sheet of the first financial statements (1/10/2014) prepared in accordan-
ce with the IFRS, and is considered an “available” reserve. The release to the income statement during the year refers entirely 
to the Fair Value measurement allocated in the previous year.

Consolidation reserve
As of 30 September 2018, this item amounted to Euro 8,532,434 and the changes during the year mainly refer to the profit 
from the previous year being carried forward and to consolidation differences mainly due to the change in accounting methods 
following adoption of IFRS 9 (Euro 760,000) and IFRS 15 (Euro 1,040,405). The total also includes the Euro conversion 
reserve referring to the Romania consolidation, equal to Euro 8,158.

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
12. Non-current financial liabilities
Loans amounted to Euro 1,453,666 (Euro 635,628 in the previous year).
This item refers to loans obtained from banks and relates to the non-current portion.

13. Provisions for risks and charges
Provisions for future risks and charges amounted to Euro 93,521 (Euro 35,966 in the previous year).
This item’s structure and the changes it underwent during the year are provided and commented on below.
Provisions for future risks and charges - breakdown

Provisions for future risks and charges - changes

The “Provision for severance & pension liabilities and similar obligations” amounted to Euro 93,521 (Euro 35,966 in the pre-
vious year) and represents allocations to the provision  for supplementary agents’ indemnity in accordance with IAS 37 (which 
states that, if the liability refers to deferred payments over time, it must be discounted using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
the current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability). This provision increases each 
year to reflect the passing of time, leading to the relative financial expenses also being recorded for the period. 

During the year, this standard was applied to the provision for supplementary agents’ indemnity, which generated a difference 
of Euro 244,336 (Euro 136,874 in the previous year); the company’s total obligation towards agents was calculated by an 
independent actuary on the basis of the following economic and financial assumptions relating to the parameters involved in 
the calculation:
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30/09/2019

Opening balance 415.246

Increase to opening balance due to the purchase of the Edlo Energy S.p.A. branch 94.000

Net allocations during the year 264.738

Use for staff leaving and/or advances -159.863

Financial charges (interest costs) -2.990

Actuarial gains (losses) 50.396

Closing balance 661.527

Economic assumptions 30/09/2019 30/09/2018 

Increase in cost of living 1,50% 1,50%

Discount rate 0,47% 1,45%

Salary increase 0,50% 0,50%

Demographic assumptions 30/09/2019 30/09/2018 

Probability of death 1% 1%

Turnover 10% 10%

Deferred tax liabilities: details for current year and previous year

Total
30/09/2018

IRES (Corporate 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

IRAP (Regional 
Income Tax) 
- Offsetting 

item in Income 
Statement - 
Current year

Total 
30/09/2019

Delta amortisation on asset 
improvements

14.905 0 0 14.905

Supplementary agents’ indemnity 15.514 0 0 15.514

Tax effect of IAS valuation of staff 
severance indemnity

1.601 -1.601 0 0

Total 32.019 -1.601 0 30.419

RISKS AND FUTURE CHARGES
Outstanding procedures
On 19 March 2015, following an inspection relating to both direct taxes and VAT, the Guardia di Finanza (Italian Finance Po-
lice) issued an official Report of Findings on Europe Energy S.p.A. (the “Company”) for the period 2009-2013, in relation to:
- presumed applicability (to the extent of 25% to 50%) of the sanction referred to by Art. 8, paragraph 2, of Italian 
Decree Law no. 16 of 2012 , regarding direct taxes;
- presumed wrongful deduction of VAT and the relative VAT sanctions.
The theory behind this Report of Findings - based on a criminal investigation regarding a party external to the Company - is 
the alleged existence of a group of companies that allegedly invoiced each other for non-existent transactions for the sale and 
purchase of electricity (despite there not being any tax issues).
The Company has promptly challenged all notices received to date with separate appeals to the Milan Provincial Tax Commis-
sion (in Italian: “CTP”).
In different formations, the CTP upheld three appeals and rejected another three.
The dispute has therefore moved to the court of appeal, before the Lombardy Regional Tax Commission (in Italian “CTR”), 
which upon application of the Company, has taken the precautionary measure of suspending the validity of all sentences passed 
by the court of first instance against the Company.
The Company is waiting for the CTR to pass its judgement on the first appeals discussed (where all disputes arising from the 
same investigation and judged by the various CTRs in Italy have been ruled in favour of the companies involved).
Considering the substantial nature of the issues, the risk of an unfavourable verdict relating to the additional tax claims may 
only be defined as merely “possible”, given the clear contestability of the investigation thesis and the previous favourable 
appeal rulings in favour of other companies that were subject to tax claims regarding the same case and based on the same 
findings as the proceeding described above.

After the reporting date, the following updates are to be noted:
- Through the sentences passed on 14 October 2019 and 20 January 2020, the CTP upheld two additional appeals 
filed by the Company, annulling the relative tax claims; in the first-instance court, there is only one verdict still pending, the 
hearing for which has been postponed due to the Covid-19 emergency.
- Through the sentences passed on 12 November 2019 and 18 December 2019, the CTR upheld two appeals filed by 
the Company, annulling the relative first-instance rulings against it and the underlying tax claims; in the appeal court, there is 
only one verdict still pending, before the CTR of Brescia, and the Company is waiting for the relative result.
- The Tax Office has filed separate appeals against the CTR’s rulings in favour of the Company at the Italian Supreme 
Court of Appeal; for one of these, the Company has already presented it defence to the Supreme Court; it shall do the same for 
the second by the legal deadlines (currently suspended by Italian Decree Law no. 18/2020).

14. Staff severance pay and other employee benefits
This item, including the payable for advance tax payments for revaluation, amounted to Euro 661,527 (Euro 415,246 in the 
previous year) and underwent the following changes during the year:

The items “Actuarial gains (losses)” and “Financial charges (interest costs)” are generated by the valuation of the provision 
using the actuarial method and were recalculated as of 1 January 2007. As mentioned above, in accordance with IAS 19, the 
Company records actuarial gains and losses directly under shareholders’ equity.
As already indicated in the section on preparation criteria, following the amendments introduced by Italian Law no. 296 of 27 

December 2006 (“2007 Budget Law”) and the subsequent implementing Decrees and Regulations, only the liability relating 
to the accrued staff severance pay that remained within the company was valued for the purposes of IAS 19, since the amounts 
accrued after 1 January 2007, as a result of the choices made by employees during the first half of 2007, were paid to a se-
parate entity (supplementary pension funds or INPS funds). As a result of these payments, the Company shall no longer have 
obligations connected to the work performed by employees in the future (so-called defined contribution plan).

The Company’s obligation towards employees was calculated by an independent actuary on the basis of the following economic 
and financial assumptions relating to the parameters involved in the calculation:
The Company’s obligation towards employees was calculated by an independent actuary on the basis of the following economic 
and financial assumptions relating to the parameters involved in the calculation:

15. Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities amounted to Euro 30,419 (Euro 32,019 in the previous year).
These were calculated on the temporary differences between the values recorded in the financial statements and the correspon-
ding values recognised for tax purposes, on the basis of the rates that can be assumed will be applied at the time when these 
differences will be cancelled out: IRES (corporate income tax) 24% and IRAP (regional income tax) 3.9%.
The breakdown of prepaid taxes and the nature of the items and of the temporary differences that give rise to them are provided 
and commented on below.
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Current period Previous period 

Bank loans 31.350.349 21.958.224

Total 31.350.349 21.958.224

Current period Previous period

VAT 6.375 149

IRES (corporate income tax) 1.161.624 790.541

IRAP (regional income tax) 328.733 152.367

Employee withholding taxes 107.754 49.439

Independent contractor withholding taxes 52.346 48.518

Other tax payables 4.054.643 1.235.513

Total 5.711.475 2.276.527

Current period Previous period 

Payables to employees 704.031 435.575

Payables to social security institutions 342.774 157.854

Payables to Directors 38.300 24.264

Accrued liabilities and deferred income 503.288 1.474.231

Other payables 1.537.459 1.658.169

Total 3.125.852 3.750.093

Trade payables broken down by geographical area

Payables due to third parties Italy EU Non-EU Total

Credit notes to be received -2.010.906 0 0 -2.010.906

Suppliers 142.580.546 11.890.828 0 154.471.374

Invoices to be received 125.381.114 2.968.704 0 128.349.818

Total 265.940.754 14.859.532 0 280.800.286

Deferred tax liabilities: changes

30/09/2018

Prepaid/deferred 
taxes recorded 
in the Income 
Statement for 

the year

Decreases in 
prepaid/deferred 
taxes recorded 
in the Income 

Statement for the 
year

30/09/2019

Supplementary agents’ indemnity 15.513 0 0 15.513

Delta amortisation on asset 
improvements

14.905 0 0 14.905

Tax effect of IAS valuation of staff 
severance indemnity

1.601 0 -1.601 0

Total 32.019 1.601 63.035 30.419

CURRENT LIABILITIES
16. Current financial liabilities
These amounted to Euro 31,350,349 (Euro 21,958,224 in the previous year). Payables due within one year can be represen-
ted as follows:

With the exception of fees and services on loans due within 12 months, the item “loans” refers to the use of credit lines to 
“unfreeze” trade receivables by opening a credit line on the bank account, i.e. advances on invoice amounts.

17. Current tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities amounted to Euro 5,711,475 (Euro 2,276,527 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

The IRES and IRAP payable corresponds to the payable generated by the calculation of current taxes for the year, net of ad-
vances paid.
The item “Other tax payables” mainly includes Euro 4,046,401 for excise duties and electricity and gas surcharges for 2018.

18. Trade payables
Trade payables amounted to Euro 280,800,286 (Euro 93,970,272 in the previous year) and are recorded in the financial 
statements net of any trade and cash discounts indicated in the invoice. Their nominal value has been adjusted, in the event 

of invoicing adjustments, by the corresponding amount agreed with the counterparty.
These payables are all to be considered current.

These payables are all to be considered current.
The growth of trade payables is due to the growth of sold and purchased volumes of electricity and gas and the ancillary ser-
vices lent to third parties. It is coherent with the trend in revenues of the final part of the year compared to the previous year.

19. Other liabilities
Other liabilities amounted to Euro 3,125,852 (Euro 3,750,093 in the previous year).
The structure and details of accrued liabilities are presented and commented on below.

The item “Payables to employees” has risen because of the growth of the employee as of 30/09/2019, that went from 106 to 
126 employees.

The item “Accrued liabilities and deferred income” refers to charges for the year that have not yet involved a cash outlay, and 
mainly comprise Euro 338,943 for contributions to be paid to ARERA.
The item “Other payables” mainly refers to the payable due to end consumers for Energy and Gas security deposits paid to 
activate utilities, equal to Euro 1,080,903 (Euro 1,132,496 at 30/09/2018).

Commitments and contingent liabilities
As of 30 September 2019, the Company had commitments and guarantees in place amounting to a total of Euro 15,420,028 
(Euro 11,256,233 at 30/09/2018), broken down as follows: 
• Sureties issued to electricity suppliers for Euro 7,550,000 compared to Euro 4,550,000 in the year ending 
30/09/2018;
• Sureties issued to gas suppliers for Euro 1,388,811 compared to Euro 1,106,000 in the year ending 30/09/2018;
• Sureties issued to customs offices for Euro 796,000 compared to Euro 510,000 in the previous year;
• Sureties issued for the purchase of energy on the electricity stock exchange and on the IDEX market for Euro 
1,000,000, the same amount as was recorded for the year ending 30/09/2018;
• Sureties issued for ancillary services for electricity and gas purchases (transport, dispatching, etc.) for Euro 1,522,807 
compared to Euro 2,003,858 in the year ending 30/09/2018;
• Sureties issued in favour of group companies for Euro 2,369,837 compared to Euro 1,975,000 in the year ending 
30/09/2018;
• Sureties issued to fibre suppliers equal to Euro 359,123, which were not present the previous year;
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Current period Previous period

Revenues from sales and services 992.234.639 454.531.341

Fair value of derivatives -9.552.467 -1.097.778

Total 982.682.172 453.433.563

Current period Previous period

Contingent assets 729.352 492.113

Research and development grant 0 170.136

Other revenues 281.637 426.370

Total 1.010.989 1.088.619

Current period Previous period

Raw and ancillary materials 950.588.207 436.329.606

Consumables and miscellaneous materials 109.939 42.804

Changes in inventories of raw, ancillary and consumable 
materials

971.031 -411.749

Total 951.669.177 435.960.661

Current period Previous period

Costs for services 14.574.747 7.885.375

Costs for use of third-party assets 626.264 412.608

Credit impairment 1.697.095 983.729

Use of risk provisions 0 -10.548

Miscellaneous operating expenses 961.785 1.168.686

Total 17.859.891 10.439.850
Current period Previous period

Italy 914.903.781 295.133.810

Other EU countries 67.778.391 158.299.753

Total 982.682.172 453.433.563

Please find below the breakdown by geographical area:

21. Other revenues and income
Other revenues and income amounted to Euro 1,010,989 (Euro 1,088,619 in the previous year).
The structure of this item is provided below.

Operating costs
22. Cost of raw materials, consumables and goods
Raw materials and consumables used amounted to Euro 951,669,177 (Euro 435,960,661 in the previous year).
The structure of this item is provided below.

23. Other operating costs
Other operating costs amounted to Euro 17,859,891 (Euro 10,439,850 in the previous year) and their structure and details 
are provided below:

Costs for services
Costs for services amounted to Euro 14,574,747 (Euro 7,885,375 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

• Sureties issued to suppliers of photovoltaic energy equal to Euro 311,767 which were not present the previous year;
• Other guarantees for Euro 121,683 (Euro 111,375 at 30/09/2018), of which Euro 100,731 in favour of Gascom 
S.r.l. in Liquidazione to guarantee the staff severance indemnity transferred with the purchase of the company on 08/06/2018.

The sureties issued to group companies for Euro 2,369,837 (Euro 1,975,000 at 30/09/2018) refer to the following compa-
nies:
LE Trading AS Euro 2,200,000:
- Euro 2,200,000 for a surety to open a line of credit;
- Euro 1,000,000 as a guarantee for contractual obligations.
Energia G&P S.r.l. (Romania) Euro 119,837 as a guarantee for contractual obligations;
Energia G&P D.o.o. (Slovenia) Euro 50,000 as a guarantee to open a local bank account.

It is acknowledged that a deed of pledge was signed on 8 June 2018, through which the parent company, Europe Energy 
Holding S.r.l., established a right of pledge on share certificate no. 23, representing 3,500,000 shares with a total nominal 
value of Euro 3,500,000 and equal to 70% (seventy per cent) of the company’s share capital in favour of Unicredit S.p.A., as 
a guarantee on the receivables for the loan of Euro 5,468,929 granted, with a residual amount to date of Euro 2,599,399.

This pledge restricts the distribution of dividends.

Part G
Information on the Income Statement
Analysis of items
Before we proceed to analyse the individual items, please note that comments on the general trend of costs and revenues, as 
required by the first paragraph of Article 2428 of the Italian Civil Code, are provided in the Management Report.
The analytical presentation of the positive and negative income items in the Income Statement and the preceding comments 
about items in the statement of financial position allow us to limit the below comments to the main items only.

20. Revenues from sales and services
Revenues from sales and services amounted to Euro 982,737,258 (Euro 453,433,563 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.
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Current period Previous period

Transport 5.432 721

Utilities (water, gas, electricity) 39.821 18.111

Maintenance and outsourcing 1.284.956 573.516

Technical and legal consulting 2.814.033 1.769.308

Directors’ fees 768.883 673.856

Statutory auditors’ fees 66.400 58.769

Independent audit firm's fees 89.937 67.314

Services similar to work carried out by employees 7.600 40.933

Commissions payable 5.875.907 2.553.501

Advertising 1.340.335 449.300

Telephone and postal charges 127.327 31.805

Insurance 421.934 182.161

Entertainment expenses 34.209 50.377

Business trips and transfers 225.170 131.484

Training and refresher courses 36.951 132.088

Other costs for services 1.435.852 1.152.131

Total 14.574.747 7.885.375

Costs for use of third-party assets
Costs for the use of third-party assets amounted to Euro 626,264 (Euro 412,608 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

This item is mainly made up of rent payable for the registered office in Milan, for the offices in S. Martino Buon Albergo and 
in Padua and, following the acquisition of the business branch of Edlo Energy S.p.A., the offices in Marcon (VE), Bergamo and 
Brescia and for headquarters abroad.

Miscellaneous operating expenses
Miscellaneous operating expenses amounted to Euro 961,785 (Euro 1,168,686 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

Current period Previous period

Rents and leases 211.878 235.335

Other costs to use third-party assets 414.386 177.273

Total 626.264 412.608

Current period Previous period

Stamp duties, levies and other taxes 231.350 72.560

Losses 0 25.182

Non-recurring losses and downward adjustment of income 460.685 871.502

Other miscellaneous expenses 269.750 199.442

Total 961.785 1.168.686

Current period Previous period

Salaries and wages 4.607.742 2.985.182

Social security contributions 1.368.424 731.332

Staff severance indemnity 271.682 153.115

Other costs 364.579 25.950

Total 6.612.426 3.895.579

24. Personnel costs
Personnel costs amounted to Euro 6,612,426 (Euro 3,895,579 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided and commented on below.

The significant increase in personnel costs is mainly due to the change in operating figures in Italy, due to the acquisition of 
Energy S.p.A. business unit and the company Gnucom S.r.l.:

25. Amortisation, depreciation, write-downs and other provisions

30.09.2019 30.09.2018 Variazione

Labour cost No. 
employees 

Average no. 
employees Labour cost No. 

employees 
Average no. 
employees Labour cost No. 

employees 
Average no. 
employees

6.612.426 126 116 3.895.579 106 79,5 2.716.847 20 36,5
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Current period Previous period

Depreciation of tangible assets 203,623 130,450

Amortisation of intangible assets 2,668,437 30,050

Total 2,872,061 160,500

Current period Previous period

Property and improvements to third-party assets 32,953 32,953

Plant and equipment 8,369 54,316

Vehicles 2,688 0

Other Property, Plant and Equipment 159,613 43,181

Total 203,623 130,450

Current period Previous period

Patents, trademarks and other rights 68.382 5.504

Software 89.100 24.546

Customer list 2.510.955 0

Total 2.668.437 30.050 

Current period Previous period

Financial income 2.650 49.227

Financial expenses -873.007 -634.007

Net financial income / (expenses) -870.357 -584.780

Current period Previous period

Interest receivable on bank deposits 878 317

Realized exchange rate gains 892 142

Default interest receivable 880 20.735

Interest receivable on security deposits 0 28.032

Total 2.650 49.227

Current period Previous period

Bank loans 486.178 571.774

Miscellaneous interest payable 383.565 31.278

Realized exchange rate losses 274 11.988

Other financial expenses 2.990 18.267

Total 873.007 634.007

Depreciation of tangible assets
Depreciation of tangible assets amounted to Euro 203,623 (Euro 130,450 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

Amortisation of intangible assets
Amortisation of intangible assets amounted to Euro 2,668,437 (Euro 30,050 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

Financial income
Financial income amounted to Euro 2,650 (Euro 49,227 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

The item “Realized exchange rate gains” refers exclusively to the difference between the value of services purchased in a fo-
reign currency, recorded in the books when the respective purchase invoice was inserted, compared with the value recorded in 
the books when said invoice was paid.

Financial expenses
Financial expenses amounted to Euro 873,007 (Euro 634,007 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

27. Financial income (expenses) from group companies
Financial income from associated companies excluded from the scope of consolidation amounted to Euro 191,539 (Euro 
501,872 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.

26. Net financial income / (expenses)
Financial income amounted to Euro -870,357 (Euro -584,780 in the previous year).
Their structure is provided below.
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Current period Previous period

From associated companies 191.539 501.872

Total 191.539 501.872 

Current period Previous period

IRES (corporate income tax) 1.887.960 1.359.823

IRAP (regional income tax) 438.089 267.954

Net prepaid / deferred taxes -211.903 -66.666

- Net prepaid tax assets -211.903 -3.632

- Net deferred tax liabilities 0 -63.034

Total 2.114.147 1.561.111

The amounts shown above are entirely made up of interest on loans that accrued during the year.

28. Tax expenses / (income)
Income taxes amounted to Euro 2,114,147 (Euro 1,561,111 in the previous year).
This item’s structure, the changes it underwent during the year and other relevant information are provided below:
Details of tax expenses / (income)

In relative terms, the tax rate for the two financial years, considering that the IRES rate in 2019 is 24%, may be broken down 
as follows:

IRES (corporate income tax)   

Profit before taxes 4.000.788  

Theoretical tax burden (24%)  960.211

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES taxable in following years

Directors’ fees paid after 30.09.2019 53.011  

Total 53.011  

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES FROM PREVIOUS YEARS CARRIED 
FORWARD:

  

Directors’ fees paid after 30.09.2018 -51.933  

Annulment of the credit impairment provision from the previous year 0  

Total -51.933

DIFFERENCES THAT WILL NOT BE REVERSED IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS:

default interest not collected as of 30/09/2019 0  

TOTAL 1.078  

Increases

Non-deductible or unpaid taxes 101.746  

Taxed credit impairment provision 300.000  

Non-deductible vehicle expenses 114.989  

Other non-deductible depreciation and amortisation 2.177.670  

Contingent liabilities 160.106  

Other increases 1.261.077  

Total increases 4.115.588  

Decreases   

IRAP relating to personnel costs -26.004  

10% IRAP (higher between paid and chargeable regional income tax) -12.434  

donations -4.000  

Amortisation of customer list -208.660  

Other decreases 129  

Total decreases -251.044  

TAXABLE INCOME 7.866.500  

Current taxes on profit for the year  1.887.960

Taxes on foreign companies  0

Total taxes recorded in the Income Statement  1.887.960
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IRAP   

Value of production 13.354.829  

Theoretical tax burden (3.9%)  520.838

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES TAXABLE IN FOLLOWING YEARS:

Total 0  

TEMPORARY DIFFERENCES FROM PREVIOUS YEARS CARRIED FORWARD:

Total 0  

DIFFERENCES THAT WILL NOT BE REVERSED IN SUBSEQUENT YEARS:

Increases   

Directors’ fees and INPS contributions (excluding remuneration to 
holders of VAT numbers)

768.883  

Municipal Property Tax 6.247  

Other increases 300.364  

non-relevant costs 50.682  

Amortisation of customer list 2.177.670  

Contingent liabilities 160.106  

Differences in IRAP rate for the parent company (5.57%) 4.353  

Total increases 3.468.305  

Decreases   

Other decreases -9.850  

Amortisation of customer list -208.660  

IRAP deductions for increase in newly hired employees and/or tax 
wedge

-5.371.577  

Total decreases -5.590.087  

IRAP TAXABLE INCOME 11.233.047  

Current IRAP for the year  438.089

The breakdown of and any changes to deferred tax assets and liabilities are reported below:
Net deferred tax assets

 % % Taxable income Tax

Deferred tax assets 2018 2019
Balance at 

30/09/2018
Incr. Decr.

Balance at 
30/09/2019

Balance at 
30/09/2018

Incr. Decr.
Balance at 

30/09/2019

Write-down of 
securities

24 24 1.117.759   1.117.759 268.153 0 0 268.153

Unpaid Directors’ 
fees

24 24 63.600 63.314 -63.600 63.314 15.264 15.195 -15.264 15.195

Credit impairment 24 24 1.100.000 300.000 -1.100.000 300.000 264.000 72.000 -264.000 72.000

Amortisation of 
customer list

27,9 27,9 0 1.462.544 0 1.462.544 0 408.050 0 408.050

Staff severance 
indemnity - IAS 
19 (2016)

24 24 20.211 0 0 20.211 4.851 0 0 4.851

Non-current 
intangible assets

27,9 27,9 17.483 0 -17.483 0 4.878 0 -4.878 0

Reversal of loan 
expenses

27,9 27,9 750 0 -750 0 209  -209 0

Staff severance 
indemnity - IAS 
19 (2017) 
balance sheet 
only

24 24 2575 50400 52975 618 12.096 0 12.714

Credit Impairment 
provision IFRS9 

 24 0 1.000.000 1.000.000 0 240.000 0 240.000

Other IFRS 
variations

0 0 0 0 1.052 1.342 -1.052 1.342

Total   2.319.803 2.332.324 -1.181.833 3.470.294 556.225 748.683 -282.603 1.022.305
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Net deferred tax liabilities

Part H
Risk management and other information
Please find below the additional information required by the IAS/IFRS, SIC/IFRIC interpretative documents, the bulletins and 
resolutions issued by the Consob (Italian Commission for Companies and the Stock Exchange) and Italian legislation, with 
reference to the applicable rules of the Italian Civil Code and other measures adopted by the national legislature, which are 
discussed in the Management Report, to which reference is made.

Risk management
With regard to market, credit and liquidity risks, please refer to the Management Report attached hereto.

Information on financial risks
IFRS 13 requires financial instruments to be valued at their fair value, calculated based on the quality of the sources used to 
calculate said fair value.. 
The aforementioned IFRS 13 classification implies a “hierarchy of Fair Value” divided into three levels that give priority, when 
measuring the fair value, to the use of objective market information as opposed to specific information, establishing three levels 
for said fair value measurement, based on the nature of the input used to value an asset or liability at the measurement date. 
This hierarchy of fair value measurement is defined as follows:
• Level 1: fair value calculation based on the listed (unadjusted) prices on active markets of identical assets or liabili-
ties. This category includes the instruments that the Company uses to operate directly on active markets or on over-the-counter 
markets that represent identical assets compared to corresponding organised markets (i.e. futures);
• Level 2: fair value calculation based on valuation models that use input that can be observed on active markets (other 
than the listed prices included in level 1 that can be both directly and indirectly observed). This category includes the instru-
ments that the Company uses to operate on Over-the-Counter markets not characterised by a sufficient level of liquidity or that 
do not express a market price continuously (e.g. OTC formula hedges);
• Level 3: fair value calculation based on valuation models whose input is not based on observable market data, neither 
directly nor indirectly (unobservable input) on any active market.
For level 1 fair value assessments, it is essential to have a price on an active market for an instrument that is identical to the 
one being valued. Based on the indications of IAS 39, a financial instrument is regarded as being listed on an active market if: 
• the listed prices are readily and regularly available through a price list, operator, broker, industry sector, pricing agency 
or regulatory authority;
• these prices represent actual market transactions that regularly occur under normal trading conditions. 
Certain characteristics may be symptomatic of an inactive market. These include:
• a significant drop in volumes and number of trades;
• or prices that vary considerably over time and between market participants.
However, it should be noted that these factors, when considered individually, may not indicate that a market is inactive. The-
refore, to assume that a price is listed on an active market, the following must be present: 
• recent transactions that occur with a certain degree of regularity with reference to financial instruments that are iden-

 % % Taxable income Tax

Deferred tax 
liabilities

2019 2020
Balance at 

30/09/2018
Incr. Decr.

Balance at 
30/09/2019

Balance at 
30/09/2018

Incr. Decr.
Balance at 

30/09/2019

Delta amortisation 
on asset 
improvements

27,9 27,9 53.423 0 0 53.423 14.905 0 0 14.905

Supplementary 
agents’ indemnity 
IAS37

24 24 64.641 0 0 64.641 15.514 0 0 15.514

Total   118.064 0 0 118.064 30.419 0 0 30.419

tical to those being valued and, moreover, 
• prices for such transactions that are promptly and regularly available.

Other information
Lease agreements
There are no future payments for non-cancellable lease commitments at 30/09/2019.

Relations with non-consolidated group companies 
These relations represent transactions with associated companies of the Group and mainly refer to:
• financial relations, represented by loans;
• commercial relations, linked mainly to the electricity sector.

Remuneration for corporate bodies and the independent audit firm
Remuneration for corporate bodies
The following table provides the information on directors and statutory auditors, in accordance with Art. 2427, point 16, of 
the Italian Civil Code:

 Type of instrument as of 
30.09.2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets for derivative contracts 4.217.684 0 0 4.217.684 

Type of instrument as of 
30.09.2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets for derivative contracts 13.994.734 0 0 13.994.734 

Amount

Directors 768.883

Board of statutory auditors 66.400

Amount

Audit* 89.937

Remuneration for the independent audit firm
The table below provides the information required by Art. 149-duodecies of the Consob Issuers’ Regulations.

* includes the audit of the separate annual accounts (‘unbundling’) prepared for the Italian Electricity and Gas Authority 
(“AEEG”) and out-of-pocket expenses.

Significant events after the reporting date 
Since February 2020, the virus known as Covid-19 has been in Italy. As we all know, the situation worsened through March and 
April 2020, until it reached a steady stage to the date of the approval of these financial statements, showing signs of optimism 
towards the re-opening at full capacity of the business activities in the next few weeks.

Luckily, we operate in a sector that results as one of the least affected by Covid-19. Our activity has actually never stopped 
through the pandemic. All the employees continued to work in smart-working during lockdown and we were able to guarantee 
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to all of our customers that our business activities were regularly carried out.

Our client base consists mainly of households, which have had a significant growth in energy consumption during the lockdown. 
This has efficiently mitigated the reduction of energy consumption of our business clients. The effects of said dynamics on the 
total sales margin appears to be moderate.

Regarding the efficiency of the sales performance during lockdown, there has been a predictable decrease of sales from our 
in-field agents due to the mobility restrictions applied. However, the data available on sales so far are positive and encouraging. 
Particularly, inbound sales have considerably grown thanks to a TV campaign that allowed us to modify the sales channel mix. 
This strategy had been put in place before the pandemic and it has been the main reason why sales have continued to sustain 
a good pace in this period.

Regarding clients’ payments, as expected, we noted a difficulty from clients in terms of respecting payment deadlines. On 
this subject, we do not identify critical position of our corporate and business clients. Regarding other clients not individually 
relevant, the quantitative effects of this dynamic does not affect in a relevant matter the financial situation of the Group. The 
volumes of outstanding payments that we are monitoring do not lead us to forecast significant effect on the financial situation 
of the Group after standard credit collection action will be carried out.

We believe that the containment measures of Covid-19 did not affect the profitability of our business and the financial sustai-
nability of said business for the period following these financial statements.

During the month of December, it was decided to terminate the transport and dispatching service contract with a counterparty 
with effect from 1 January 2020. This entails an important reduction in the forecasted turnover compared to these financial 
statements. However, the decrease in the expected margins is modest. At the time of approval of these financial statements, 
all the practices relating to this interruption are completed and the company is not exposed to residual risks or uncertainties 
related to this matter.

Milan, 13 May 2020

Sole Director
(Matteo Ballarin)
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EUROPE ENERGY HOLDING S.r.l. A SOCIO UNICO
(SINGLE SHAREHOLDER COMPANY)

Registered office: Via Fratelli Gabba, 6

20121 MILAN (MI) 

R.E.A. Index No. 2041430 - MI

Companies’ Register of MILAN no. 06616800964

Share capital: €1,908,730.00 (paid-up) 

Report of the Sole Statutory Auditor 

on the statutory and consolidated financial statements

for the year ended 30 September 2019

(pursuant to Articles 2403 and 2429(2), of the Italian Civil Code)

of the Shareholders’ General Meeting for Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. a socio unico (Sole 
Shareholder Company)

Dear Shareholder,

The Sole Statutory Auditor has monitored compliance with the Law and the Articles of Association and 
compliance with the principles of correct administration, referring in the performance of his duties to 
the Standards of Conduct of the Board of Statutory Auditors recommended by the National Council of 
Chartered Accountants and Accounting Experts. 

The Sole Statutory Auditor has attended the Shareholders’ General Meetings and the meetings of 
the Board of Directors, also obtaining information from the Administrative Body on the general perfor-
mance of the Company and its outlook, as well as on the most significant transactions, in terms of their 
size or characteristics, carried out by the Company, and, on the basis of the information available, can 
reasonably ensure that the actions implemented comply with the Law and the Articles of Association 
and are not manifestly imprudent, risky or likely to compromise the integrity of the Company’s assets.

The party in charge of the legal auditing of the accounts is the auditing company Deloitte & Touche 
S.p.A., which has not communicated any significant events or information that needs to be highlighted 
in this report.

The Sole Statutory Auditor has acquired knowledge of and supervised the company by carrying out 
periodic checks on the assessment of the adequacy of the organisational structure of the company and 
its correct functioning.
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I have assessed and monitored the adequacy of the administrative and accounting system and the re-
liability of the latter in correctly representing operating events and there are no particular observations 
to make in this regard.

During the financial year, the Sole Statutory Auditor did not issue any opinions established by law. 

No complaints were received pursuant to Article 2408 of the Italian Civil Code.

I have examined the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2019, as well as the con-
solidated financial statements as at the same date, and in this regard I wish to report as follows.

Pursuant to Legislative Decree no. 38 of 28/02/2005, containing the implementing provisions of Law 

no. 306/2003 (promulgated following the entry into force of European Regulation no. 1606/2002), 

which provides for the option for unlisted companies that prepare consolidated financial statements to 

optionally adopt international accounting standards (IAS/IFRS) issued by the International Accounting 

Standard Board (IASB) and approved by the European Union, the company Europe Energy Holding 

S.r.l. intended to make use of this option by drawing up the consolidated financial statements as at 30 

September 2019 in compliance with the International Accounting Standards (IAS) and International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 

and the interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) and the Standing 

Interpretations Committee (SIC), recognised by the European Union in accordance with Regulation 

(EC) 1606/2002 and in force at the end of the financial year (all the above standards and interpretations 

are hereinafter referred to as “EU-IFRS”). In particular, EU-IFRS have been consistently applied to all 

periods presented in this document. Conversely, the statutory financial statements (stand-alone) were 

prepared in accordance with Italian GAAP, in particular in the abbreviated form referred to in Article 

2435-bis of the Italian Civil Code.

It should be noted that the consolidated balance sheet includes goodwill for a total of €9,040,212, of 

which €667,095 is derived from the exchange deficit resulting from the merger by incorporation of 

Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. into the subsidiary Europe Energy S.p.A. (reverse merger in 2014) and 

€8,373,117 relating to goodwill generated by the merged company Europe Energy Gas & Power S.p.A., 

as a result of the acquisition of the business unit from Gascom S.r.l. in Liquidazione (in liquidation); in 

particular, following the implementation of the Purchase Price Allocation (PPA) activity, the difference 

between the purchase price and the value of the acquired company was allocated to goodwill, in the 

absence of other significant assets related to the acquisition.

It should also be noted that in the year under review the item “Customer List” was entered under 

intangible assets for €31,672,590, relating in particular to:

• the cost of customers acquisition following the purchase of business unit from Edlo Energy S.p.A. with 

effect from 01.10.2018 (in the business combination’s form, with PPA of the surplus paid definitively 

allocated on the customers’ value);

• the acquisition of customer’s portfolio from Green Network S.p.A. effective from 1.07.2019, identified 

as a set of assets in accordance with IAS 38 and consequently without PPA.

• the recognition, on the basis of the newly applied IFRS 15, of the incremental costs for obtaining 

contracts with customers that the Company expects to recover in the coming years, in fact relating to 

the capitalization of the commissions paid to the agencies, while they have been costs that would have 

had less depreciation in the year are charged directly to the income statement.

These items of intangible assets have been subjected, with reference to the date of 30 September 

2019, to the Impairment Test, as required by IAS 36 and as described by the directors in the evaluation 

criteria of the financial statements. In relation to the same, the Board of Statutory Auditors reminds 

the directors to periodically check their effective recoverability, also taking into account the effective 

profitability of the underlying assets, de facto representatives of the related customers.

The sole administrator has made available to me the financial statements prepared in abbreviated 

form pursuant to Article 2435-bis of the Italian Civil Code and the consolidated financial statements, 

both relating to the year ended 30 September 2019; the latter consists, as required by IAS 1, of the 

Statement of Financial Position, the Income Statement and the Statement of Comprehensive Income, 

the Cash Flow Statement and the Explanatory Notes (which include the Statement of Changes in 

Shareholders’ Equity), containing the list of significant accounting standards and other explanatory 

notes. In this sense, I have expressly waived the terms set forth in Article 2429(1) of the Italian Civil 

Code, as the Sole Shareholder did.

Since I was not responsible for the analytical control of the merits of the content of the financial 

statements, and of the consolidated financial statements, I supervised the general approach given to 

the same, its general compliance with the Law as regards its formation and structure. 
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Transactions between group companies and with related parties are included in a specific paragraph 

in the Notes to the Financial Statements and in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, to 

which reference should be made for the identification of the type of transactions and their economic, 

equity and financial effects. The Sole Statutory Auditor notes that, among other things, the identification 

and quantification of significant transactions with related parties is the sole responsibility of the 

Administrative Body.

Pursuant to Article 2426(5) of the Italian Civil Code, the Sole Statutory Auditor expressed his consent 

to the recording of start-up and expansion costs in the assets side of the balance sheet. 

The Sole Statutory Auditor also examined the consolidated financial statements of the Europe Energy 

Holding S.r.l. Group for the year ended 30 September 2019, for which the following information is 

provided:

- these are the fourth consolidated financial statements of the group prepared in accordance with 
international accounting standards and was prepared by the parent company Europe Energy 
Holding S.r.l.;

- the consolidated financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche S.p.A., the com-
pany appointed to carry out the legal audit of the accounts, which has not communicated any 
significant facts or information to us that should be highlighted in this report and which issued 
its report on 14 May 2020;

- the Sole Statutory Auditor verified that the consolidated financial statements corresponded to 
the facts and information of which he was aware following the performance of his duties and 
has no observations to make in this regard.

At the end of this report, also considering the results of the activities carried out by the legal audit body 
contained in the specific report accompanying the statutory financial statements, and the consolidated 
financial statements, dated 14 May 2020, which I have read, I have no reason to object to the approval 
of the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2019, nor are there any objections to the 
proposal for a resolution presented by the sole administrator for the allocation of the result for the year.

The Sole Statutory Auditor has no observations to make regarding compliance with the provisions of 
the law relating to the preparation of the consolidated financial statements as at 30 September 2019.

Brescia, 14 May 2020

The Sole Statutory Auditor

(Mr. Stefano Breno)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  
PURSUANT TO ARTICLE 14 OF LEGISLATIVE DECREE No. 39 OF JANUARY 27, 2010  

 
 
To the Shareholders of  
Europe Energy Holding S.r.l. 
 
 
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Opinion  
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Europe Energy Group (the Group), which 
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at September 30, 2019, and the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at September 30, 2019, and of its consolidated financial 
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union. 
 
Basis for Opinion  
 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of Europe Energy Holding 
S.r.l. (the “Company”) in accordance with the ethical requirements applicable under Italian law to the audit 
of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Responsibilities of the Directors and the Board of Statutory Auditors for the Consolidated 
Financial Statements 
 
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the European Union and, within the terms established by law, for such internal control as the Directors 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless they have identified the existence of the conditions for the 
liquidation of the Company or the termination of the business or have no realistic alternatives to such 
choices. 
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The Board of Statutory Auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by law, the 
Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia) will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:  
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 

due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern. 
 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by ISA 
Italia, regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS  
 
Opinion pursuant to art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10  
 
The Directors of Europe Energy S.r.l. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations of 
Europe Energy Group as at September 30, 2019, including its consistency with the related consolidated 
financial statements and its compliance with the law. 
 
We have carried out the procedures set forth in the Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to 
express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the consolidated financial statements 
of Europe Energy Group as at September 30, 2019 and on its compliance with the law, as well as to make a 
statement about any material misstatement. 
 
In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the consolidated financial statements of Europe 
Energy Group as at September 30, 2019 and is prepared in accordance with the law. 
 
With reference to the statement referred to in art. 14, paragraph 2 (e), of Legislative Decree 39/10, made 
on the basis of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and of the related context acquired during 
the audit, we have nothing to report. 
 
 
DELOITTE & TOUCHE S.p.A. 
 
Signed by 
Piergiulio Bizioli 
Partner 
 
 
Brescia, Italy  
May 14, 2020 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This report has been translated into the English language 
 solely for the convenience of international readers. 

 


